A WORD FROM
THE CHAIRMAN
I am proud to be President of the board of this Company, Robex has made great progress.
In early 2022, while we continued to improve Nampala, we spent a lot of time looking for an ambitious new mining project to integrate
into our Group.
It took months of research and due diligence. The work resulted in a merger between Robex and Sycamore, announced last April 20.
This will allow to build a new low-cost gold mine in Guinea. With Nampala the Group will produce more than 200,000 oz a year by 2024.
Kiniero is a large mining project with an enormous geological potential. Sycamore will be integrated into Robex through a simple
exchange of stocks, preserving the financial capacities of both companies. Robex’s financial resources will integrally remain available for
the Nampala operations, the continuity of our exploration and, most of all, the start up of the new Kiniero project.
This project is unique as it offers many benefits since the site was under exploitation for 12 years, until March 2014. We are therefore not
starting from scratch. All the infrastructure already exists on site, which was renovated by Sycamore, and a significant amount was invested
for exploration and geological data interpretation, including analysing of historical data. All this resulted in an acute understanding of the
geology and the discovery of new deposits and extensions on the property.
Thanks to this pre-existing work, the Robex and Sycamore teams are working not only on the legal closing but, for a few months now, also
to move the project forward and towards a promising collaboration.
The synergies between Robex and Sycamore have already materialised through the complete re-thinking of the Robex exploration
process thanks to experience of the Sycamore’s geologists in West Africa.
Robex’s employees and directors, bringing their expertise in plant development and operations, are already in Guinea to support the
Kiniero project.
Robex invested in engineering and exploration to advance the Kiniero pre-feasibility study, which will be published during Q2 2022.
The work accomplished together during the last few months has given Kiniero a greater scale than initially planned by Sycamore, and we
thus informed the Guinean authorities, who have approved what would become the 4th largest gold mine in Guinea.
Robex intends to rigorously apply its sustainable and inclusive development strategy to Kiniero, which will benefit all stakeholders.
Finally, despite a new year impacted by local crises, we are proud to further our support the local population and to have maintained, to
the highest standards, the safety of our Nampala mining site, including the renewal of our ISO 45001 certification.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all our employees and partners around the world for their efforts to date and to wish all our
shareholders a wonderful 2022.

Georges Cohen
PRESIDENT

TABLE OF CONTENT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS........................................................................ 1
1.

IMPORTANT FACTS ...................................................................................................................................................................... 2
A.

2021 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS ................................................................................................................ 2

B.

2021 CORPORATE SUMMARY .......................................................................................................................................................... 3

C.

2022 OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY: A YEAR OF TRANSFORMATIONS .................................................................................................. 4

D.

KEY ECONOMIC FACTORS................................................................................................................................................................. 5

2.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS ........................................................................................................................................... 6
A.

RESULTS ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 6

B.

RESULTS BY OPERATING SEGMENT .................................................................................................................................................. 8

C.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME............................................................................................................................................................... 8

D.

FINANCIAL POSITION........................................................................................................................................................................ 8

E.

CASH FLOWS .................................................................................................................................................................................. 10

F.

NET DEBT POSITION ....................................................................................................................................................................... 12

G.

OTHER ELEMENTS .......................................................................................................................................................................... 12

3.

FOURTH QUARTER FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS.......................................................................................................... 14

4.

QUARTELY RESULTS ................................................................................................................................................................... 15

5.

OPERATIONS ............................................................................................................................................................................. 17
A.

MINING OPERATIONS (GOLD) ........................................................................................................................................................ 17

B.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND RESERVES: NAMPALA ......................................................................................................................... 19

C.

EXPLORATION ................................................................................................................................................................................ 20

D.

THE TRADING HOUSE ..................................................................................................................................................................... 21

6.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ......................................................................................................................................... 22
A.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE INDICATORS (‘‘ESG’’) ........................................................................................... 22

B.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO MALI .............................................................................................................................................................. 28

C.

COVID‐19 RESPONSE ...................................................................................................................................................................... 28

D.

MINE‐SCHOOL ................................................................................................................................................................................ 29

E.

NEW PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED IN 2021 FOR NEIGHBOURING POPULATIONS .............................................................................. 30

F.

ESTABLISHED CHARTERS AND POLICIES ......................................................................................................................................... 31

7.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES ....................................................................................................................................................... 32
A.

FINANCIAL RISKS ............................................................................................................................................................................ 32

B.

OPERATIONAL RISKS ...................................................................................................................................................................... 33

8.

SHARE CAPITAL.......................................................................................................................................................................... 40

9.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES ................................................................................................................................................... 41
A.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES .................................................................................................................................. 41

B.

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING ..................................................................................................................... 41

C.

LIMITATIONS OF CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES ............................................................................................................................ 41

10.

NON‐IFRS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES ...................................................................................................................... 42

11.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE ................................................................................................... 44

12.

FOWARD‐LOOKING STATEMENTS .............................................................................................................................................. 45

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS............................................................ 46

MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S ♦ YEAR 2021

[M A N A G E M E N T ‘ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S]

YEAR 2021

ROBEX RESOURCES INC. is a Canadian mining operation and exploration company, that operates in Mali, in Africa, whose
shares are traded on the Canadian TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol RBX. The Company currently operates the
Nampala mine and holds five exploration permits in Mali. ROBEX’s priority strategy is to maximize shareholder value by
managing its existing assets and pursuing opportunities for strategic growth.
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is designed to provide the reader with a greater understanding of
the Company’s business, strategy, and performance, as well as how it manages risk and capital resources. It also aims to
show that the Company is a citizen and responsible actor engaged in actions with lasting effects. This MD&A, prepared as
of May 2, 2022, is intended to complement and supplement our Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements (the
“financial statements”) as of December 31, 2021. Our financial statements and this MD&A are intended to provide investors
with a reasonable basis for assessing our operational results and our financial performance.
Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS”). The presentation currency for the financial statements is the
Canadian dollar. The euro and the CFA franc are the functional currencies of the Company. All dollar amounts contained in
this MD&A are therefore expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified.
This MD&A contains forward‐looking statements. Particular attention should be given to the risk factors described in the
“Risks and Uncertainties” section and to the “Forward‐Looking Statements” section of this document.
Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, “the Company”, “the Group’’ or “ROBEX”, we mean ROBEX RESOURCES INC. and one, more
or all its subsidiaries, as the case may be.
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1. IMPORTANT FACTS
A. 2021 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS
2021

2020

Variation

Gold ounces produced

46,554

50,348

‐8%

Gold ounces sold

46,002

50,963

‐10%

103,893,000

120,830,000

‐14%

Operating income

37,094,000

48,529,000

‐24%

Net income attributable to equity shareholders

(rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars)

Revenue – Gold sales

15,893,000

44,609,000

‐64%

Basic earnings per share

0.026

0.076

‐66%

Diluted earnings per share

0.026

0.074

‐65%

29,668,000

45,046,000

‐34%

0.049

0.076

‐36%

Adjusted amounts
Adjusted net income attributable to equity shareholders1
Per share1

Cash flows
33,768,000

65,090,000

‐48%

Per share1

0.056

0.111

‐50%

Total assets

142,668,000

116,774,000

+22%

Cash flows from operating activities2

Total liabilities

44,020,000

25,535,000

+72%

Net debt3

(9,281,000)

(1,008,000)

N/A

Average realized selling price (per ounce)

2,258

2,371

‐5%

All‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)

1,502

1,277

+18%

956

797

+20%

Statistics
(in dollars)
1

Adjusted all‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)1

1
Adjusted net income attributable to equity shareholders, adjusted basic earnings per share, operating cash flows per share, all‐in sustaining cost and
adjusted all‐in sustaining cost are non‐IFRS financial measures for which there is no standardized definition under IFRS. See the "Non‐IFRS Financial
Performance Measures" section of this document, on page 42.
2
Cash flows from operating activities exclude net change in non‐cash working capital items.
3
Refer to “Net Debt Position” section of this document on page 12.
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B. 2021 CORPORATE SUMMARY
The 2021 production amounts to 46,554 oz in concordance with the revised objective of >45,000 oz. Compared to the year
2020, the lower input grade this year, specifically 0.81 g/t compared to 0.93 g/t, was partially compensated by a better
recovery (91.4% vs 88.1%) and an increase in tonnage. Last December, replacing the cyclone pumps allowed us to eliminate
the main cause of the 2021 tonnage limitation, enabling us to increase the Nampala production objectives for 2022. We
opened four new pits to process the new resources we discovered following our successful 2019 and 2020 exploration
campaign. We also reached the transition that will progressively be included in the plant feeding mix.
Considering the production reduction, the gold price decrease and the energy cost increase, the 2021 operational result was
CAD 37.1 million compared to CAD 48.5 million in 2020. The 2021 net result of CAD 15.9 million attributable to shareholders
(vs CAD 44.6 million in 2020) includes an exceptional CAD 14.3 million tax provision accounted following the receipt of the
tax assessment notice by the Malian authorities for the financial years 2016 to 2018, representing the most probable cash
outflow as of today.
In order to develop our licenses, we started exploration work (geochemistry, geophysics reinterpretation, surface sampling)
on the Senegalese‐Malian shear zone (Sanoula and Diagounte), and on the licenses neighbouring Nampala (Mininko and
Gladie). Reverse circulation (RC) and diamond drillings have started at the beginning of the year 2022 with the objective of
increasing the resources. A complete redesign of our exploration process is in progress with the Sycamore Mining Ltd
(“Sycamore”) geologists’ team.
During the year 2021, management dedicated substantial efforts to finalizing a major first step in the Group’s development.
This work resulted in the merger of Robex with Sycamore with the objective of creating a large low‐cost, multi‐asset and
multi‐jurisdictions gold producer in West Africa. On April 20, 2022, the Company closed a Share Purchase Agreement ("SPA")
in which the Company will issue 403,600,000 common shares (minus the closing adjustments such as potential liabilities) in
Robex’s share capital in exchange for 100% of outstanding Sycamore stocks. The closing is expected before the end of the
second quarter of 2022.
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C. 2022 OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY1: A YEAR OF TRANSFORMATIONS
After the 2017 Nampala startup, the doubling of the resources and the 2020 dividends, the Company progressed once again
in 2022 with the Kiniero project located in the Republic of Guinea. This combination has already considerably reinforced our
technical teams and will allow us to maximize our properties in Mali, including the Nampala mine which will remain a key
asset in the Company’s development. Concomitantly with the legal work for completing the transaction, the objectives of
the Company for 2022 are the following:


Sycamore Integration: Robex will integrate the Sycamore teams into its structure with the deployment of all its HR,
environmental, security, accounting, and IT systems procedures. We will establish a close collaboration between both
mining sites to share best practices and train all collaborators.



Preparation of the Kiniero construction phase: All teams are working on completing the pre‐feasibility study (“PFS”)
compliant with the Canadian NI 43‐101 norm, planned for the second quarter of 2022. This study will be followed by a
feasibility study (“FS”) in order to start the construction of the plant. Much work is required, notably definition drillings
and engineering, which will continue throughout the year.



Nampala performance improvement: The optimization of the mining plan is now ongoing which is a priority for the
Company. The objective is to maximize the cash flow to support the Group’s growth.



Contribution to the environment: The solar power plant will start up at the end of the second quarter, which will
significantly reduce our emissions by 3,000 tons of CO2, saving 1,147,000 litres of fuel, while improving our production
costs.



Exploration in Mali and Guinea: The exploration is back at the core of the strategy to identify new targets and new
treatable reserves at the Nampala plant and the future Kiniero plant.



Capitals Market: Robex wishes to improve its communication with investors and financial intermediaries to increase
stock liquidity in the short term. The Group is considering the possibility of “graduating” at TSX in order to attract a
greater number of investors.

Our forecasts for the year 2022 are the following:

Nampala Mine
Gold production
All‐in sustaining cost ("AISC")2 (per ounce sold)

2021 Achievements

2022 Forecasts

46,554 ounces
1,502 CAD (1,199 USD3)

˃ 50,000 ounces
< 1,500 CAD (1,197 USD3)

6.1 million CAD
21.9 million CAD

4.9 million CAD
15.5 million CAD

28.0 million CAD

20.4 million CAD

Immobilization expenses (included in the AISC)
Maintenance immobilization expenses
Stripping costs

1
This section contains forward‐looking statements. Refer to the "Forward‐Looking Statements" section on page 45 of this document for further details
on forward‐looking statements.
2
All‐in sustaining cost is a non‐IFRS financial measures for which there is no standardized definition under IFRS. See the "Non‐IFRS Financial Performance
Measures" section of this document, on page 42.
3
The amounts in Canadian dollars have been converted to American dollars according to the average yearly rate for 2021, which is 0.7980.
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The Group’s administrative costs are estimated at CAD 13.3 million for 2022.
Many assumptions have been considered while preparing the 2022 forecasts, including:
‐ Gold price: CAD 2.185 per ounce
‐ Fuel price: CAD 1.55 per litre
‐ EUR/CAD exchange rate: 1.3675

D. KEY ECONOMIC FACTORS
 PRICE OF GOLD
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the price of gold in US dollars, based on the London Gold Fixing Price,
fluctuated from a high of USD 1,942 to a low of USD 1,701 per ounce (high of CAD 2,482 to a low of CAD 2,145 per ounce).
The average market gold price for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2021 was of CAD 2,255 per ounce compared to
CAD 2,409 per ounce for the same period in 2020, representing a decrease of CAD 154.
2021

2020

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

Year

Year

Average London Gold Fixing Price USD

1,797

1,789

1,813

1,796

1,799

1,800

Average London Gold Fixing Price CAD

2,266

2,253

2,227

2,274

2,255

2,409

Average realized selling price CAD

2,266

2,269

2,219

2,281

2,258

2,371

(in dollars per ounce)

 COST PRESSURES
Our operation, like the entire mining sector, is greatly affected by pressures on the costs of development and operation.
Since our mining activities consume large amounts of energy, a change in fuel price can have a significant impact on our
operations and associated financial results. The situation is the same for most of our chemicals such as lime, cyanide and
coal.
The Group purchases our fuel exclusively from the company Vivo Energy Mali in CFA francs, the local currency in Mali, at a
price based on the price fixed by the director of the Malian Office of Petroleum Products (ONAP). The average price fixed
by the director of ONAP was FCFA 593 per litre (equivalent to CAD 1.34) for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared
to FCFA 616 per litre (equivalent to CAD 1.44) for the same period in 2020.
The startup of the solar power plant confirms afterwards the relevancy of the choice of this investment since it will reduce
the impact of the increase in fuel prices and prove our environmental commitment.
 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Our mining operation and exploration activities are carried out in Mali, in West Africa. As a result, a portion of operating
costs and capital expenditures is denominated in foreign currencies, mainly in euros. The FCFA is currently at a fixed rate of
FCFA 655.957 for 1 euro, and therefore fluctuates according to the euro.
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Canadian dollar gained value compared to the Euro during the same
period in 2020. As majority of our costs are denominated in foreign currencies other than the Canadian dollar, the foreign
exchange fluctuation positively impacted our all‐in sustaining cost1.

The all‐in sustaining cost is a non‐IFRS financial measure for which there is no standardized definition under IFRS. See the "Non‐IFRS Financial Performance
Measures" section of this document, on page 42.

1
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The exchange rates between the Euro (EUR) and the Canadian Dollar (CAD) are as follows:
EUR / CAD
March 31 (closing)
June 30 (closing)
September 30 (closing)
December 31 (closing)
First quarter (average)
Second quarter (average)
Third quarter (average)
Fourth quarter (average)
Year (average)

2021

2020

1.4759
1.4699
1.4801
1.4391
1.5251
1.4802
1.4851
1.4408
1.4828

1.5584
1.5305
1.5631
1.5608
1.4826
1.5256
1.5575
1.5537
1.5298

2. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS
A. RESULTS
2021

2020

Gold ounces produced

46,554

50,348

Gold ounces sold

46,002

50,963

Revenue – Gold sales

103,893,000

120,830,000

Mining operation expenses

(34,633,000)

(31,550,000)

(3,207,000)

(2,915,000)

Administrative expenses

(17,443,000)

(16,349,000)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets

(11,516,000)

(20,913,000)

(rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars)

Mining royalties

‐‐‐

(574,000)

Operating income

37,094,000

48,529,000

Financial expenses

(939,000)

(1,146,000)

Stock‐based compensation expense

Foreign exchange gain (loss)
Write‐off of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets

508,000

194,000

(6,000)

(57,000)

122,000

62,000

(20,658,000)

(2,556,000)

Net income

16,121,000

45,026,000

Net income attributable to equity shareholders

Other income
Income (recovery) tax expense

15,893,000

44,609,000

Basic earnings per share

0.026

0.076

Diluted earnings per share

0.026

0.074

29,668,000

45,046,000

0.049

0.076

33,768,000

65,090,000

0.056

0.111

Adjusted amounts
Adjusted net income attributable to equity shareholders1
Per share1

Cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities2
Per share1

Adjusted net income attributable to equity shareholders, adjusted basic earnings per share and operating cash flows per share are non‐IFRS financial
measures for which there is no standardized definition under IFRS. See the "Non‐IFRS Financial Performance Measures" section of this document, on
page 42.
2
Cash flows from operating activities exclude net change in non‐cash working capital items.
1
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Comments:


In 2021, gold sales amounted to $103,893,000 compared to $120,830,000 in 2020. This 14% decrease is due to a 5%
lower average realized selling price ($2,258 per ounce compared to $2,371 in 2020) as well as a decrease in the number
of ounces of gold sold (46,002 ounces of gold sold compared to 50,963 in 2020), resulting from lower production in
2021 (46,554 ounces of gold produced compared to 50,348 in 2020). The increase in treated ore tonnage, especially at
the end of the year, and the improvement of the recovery only partially compensated for the decrease of the ore grade.
The difference between the amount of gold ounces sold and the amount of gold ounces produced during the periods is
due to the shipment timing.



In 2021, mining operation expenses were $34,633,000, or $753 per ounce sold, while in 2020, they amounted to
$31,550,000, or $619 per ounce sold. During 2021, operations were mainly carried out at the surface of the four new
pits around the main pit. The 22% increase in mining operating expenses per ounce sold is therefore due in part to the
increased distance to be covered by the ore between the new pits and the plant. In addition, the lower average feed
grades inevitably required processing a larger amount of ore to produce an ounce of gold. However, this decline in
grades (0.81 g/t compared to 0.93 g/t) was included in the mining plan.



The increase in mining royalties in 2021 is justified by an upward revision of the gold selling price from Nampala to the
Trading house, to which the government royalty rate of 3% is applied in Mali.



In 2021, administrative expenses amounted to $17,443,000 compared to $16,349,000 in 2020, representing a 7%
increase. As part of the unexpected tax adjustment in 2021, the Company hired tax advisors for an amount of
$1,388,000 to assist in its efforts to challenge the merits of the adjustment, since the Company vigorously defends its
positions.



Reduced depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets in 2021 is partially due
to the new mineral resources estimates published in October 2020 and March 2021, which have extended the life of
the Nampala mine, and therefore slowed down the amortization pace. Furthermore, the lower gold production in 2021
resulted in the reduction of the fixed asset amortization calculated according to the production unit method.



In 2021, the financial expenses were $939,000 compared to $1,146,000 in 2020. This 18% decrease stems from the fact
that the Company’s average bank debt in 2021 was lower than in 2020.



In 2021, we recorded foreign exchange gains of $508,000 as a result of the revaluation of our monetary assets and
liabilities and our financial instruments denominated in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency which
is the Euro (foreign exchange gains of $194,000 in 2020).



In 2021, we recorded an income tax expense of $20,658,000 (income tax expense of $2,556,000 in 2020) including:
‐
‐



1

A deferred tax expense of $4,659,000 ($1,788,000 in 2020) following an increase in existing temporary differences
between the book value of property, plant and equipment and their tax value in Mali;
A current tax expense of $16,000,000 ($768,000 in 2020), including a provision of $14,276,807 for a tax adjustment
on prior years1.

In 2021, net income attributable to non‐controlling interest (10% interest in Nampala S.A. owned by the Government
of Mali) was $228,000 compared to a net income of $417,000 in 2020.

The nature and extent of the risks arising from this tax adjustment are described in note 24 of our financial statements.
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B. RESULTS BY OPERATING SEGMENT
2021

2020

$

$

43,145,000

56,707,000

(34,000)

(11,000)

Corporate management

(6,017,000)

(8,167,000)

Operating income

37,094,000

48,529,000

(rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars)

Mining Operation (Gold)
Mining Exploration

C. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended December 31, 2021, other comprehensive income is summarized by a negative foreign exchange
difference of $8,773,000, reflecting the impact of the change in the exchange rate between the Euro, the FCFA (our
functional currencies) and the Canadian dollar (our reporting currency) on our non‐monetary assets and liabilities (positive
foreign exchange difference of $5,830,000 in 2020).

D. FINANCIAL POSITION
2021

2020

Current assets

$
41,245,000

$
28,155,000

Property, plant and equipment

90,605,000

77,260,000

(rounded off to the nearest thousand)

Other non‐current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities

10,818,000

11,359,000

142,668,000

116,774,000

35,454,000

19,343,000

8,566,000

6,192,000

Total liabilities

44,020,000

25,535,000

Equity attributable to shareholders

97,418,000

90,140,000

1,230,000

1,099,000

142,668,000

116,774,000

Non‐current liabilities

Non‐controlling interest
Total equity and liabilities

As of December 31, 2021, our total assets were $142,668,000 compared to $116,774,000 as of December 31, 2020. This
increase is mainly explained by an increase in the cash balance of $11,826,000 and the net value of property, plant and
equipment of $13,345,000, including among other things the production expenses capitalized as stripping cost and the
exploration costs on the Nampala operating permit.
As of December 31, 2021, our total liabilities were $44,020,000 compared to $25,535,000 as of December 31, 2020. The
increase in current liabilities includes a used balance of $6,660,000 on authorized lines of credit ($1,087,000 as of
December 31, 2020) and an increase in accounts payable of $10,560,000, including, among other things, a balance due to
the state of $7,715,000 on the tax provision for prior years’ adjustments.
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The authorized lines of credit will expire in September and November 2022 and the Company intends to renew them. The
following table presents the debt maturity on December 31, 2021:
2022

2023

2024

$

$

$

Lines of credit

6,660,000

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

Long‐term debt

4,569,000

266,000

52,000

81,000

7,000

‐‐‐

11,310,000

273,000

52,000

(arrondis au millier près)

Lease obligations
Total
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E. CASH FLOWS
The following table summarizes our cash flows:
2021

2020

$

$

Operations

33,768,000

65,090,000

Working capital items

10,155,000

(1,626,000)

(rounded off to the nearest thousand)

Operating activities

43,923,000

63,466,000

Financing activities

4,179,000

(39,741,000)

Investing activities

(34,875,000)

(30,196,000)

Change in cash during the year

13,227,000

(6,471,000)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(1,402,000)

1,769,000

8,897,000

13,599,000

20,722,000

8,897,000

Cash at the beginning of the year
Cash at the end of the year

 OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2021, operating activities, before working capital items, generated positive cash flows of
$33,768,000 compared to $65,090,000 in 2020. This downward variation is mainly due to the decrease in revenues from
gold sales of $16,937,000 and the recognition of a provision for tax adjustments for years prior to 2021 of $14,277,000.
Working Capital Items
Working capital items generated cash of $10,155,000 in 2021, mainly due to the increase in accounts payable partly offset
by the increase in inventories. In 2020, working capital items required cash of $1,626,000. Additional information on the net
change in non‐cash working capital items is provided in note 20 to the financial statements.
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES
For the year ended December 31, 2021, cash flows generated by financing activities amounted to $4,179,000 compared to
cash flows required of $39,741,000 in 2020. In 2021, the Company obtained bank financing from the local banks for a total
amount of $4,080,000 and used its lines of credit for an additional amount of $5,622,000. In return, an amount of $5,452,000
was repaid on long‐term debt, in accordance with the repayment schedules.
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 INVESTING ACTIVITIES
In 2021, cash flows used in investing activities was $34,875,000 compared to $30,196,000 in 2020 and are distributed as
detailed below:
2021

2020

$

$

(6,402,000)

(6,240,000)

(21,937,000)

(16,415,000)

(28,339,000)

(22,655,000)

Nampala mine

(3,147,000)

(8,004,000)

Other permits

(2,005,000)

(282,000)

(5,152,000)

(8,286,000)

334,000

(1,109,000)

(1,718,000)

1,854,000

(1,384,000)

745,000

(34,875,000)

(30,196,000)

(rounded off to the nearest thousand)

Immobilization expenses
Maintenance and development (see chart below for details)
Stripping costs
Exploration expenses

Other variations
Decrease (increase) of paid deposits
Increase (decrease) in purchases of property, plant and equipment in accounts payable
Total

Breakdown of main maintenance and development
capital expenditures in 2021
Purchase and installation of a crusher ($883,000)

14%

Work on the tailings pond ($695,000)

27%

Purchase and installation of pumps ($671,000)

11%

Purchase and installation of a new motor control center ($531,000)
Preparing the ground for the solar power plant ($486,000)

4%

10%

5%

Transport equipment purchase ($483,000)
Construction of new housing on site ($353,000)
Purchase and installation of a vibrating screen ($319,000)

5%

8%
8%

8%

Work on access roads ($260,000)
Other maintenance and development expenses
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F. NET DEBT POSITION
The following table summarizes the Company’s net debt position as of December 31, 2021, and 2020:
2021

2020

Lines of credit

$
6,660,000

$
1,086,000

Debt

4,695,000

6,500,000

86,000

302,000

(20,722,000)

(8,896,000)

(9,281,000)

(1,008,000)

(arrondis au millier près)

Lease obligations
Less : Cash
Net debt

G. OTHER ELEMENTS
 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company's operations are subject to various laws and regulations relating to provisions for environmental restoration
and closure for which the Company estimates future costs. The Company establishes a provision based on the best estimate
of the future costs for the reclamation of mine sites and associated production facilities on an up‐to‐date basis.
As of December 31, 2021, the provision for the future dismantling of the facilities under construction at the Nampala site
amounted to $378,000 ($424,000 as of December 31, 2020). This decrease is because the mine life of the Nampala mine
has been extended following the new mineral resource estimate published last March.
Government Royalties
In Mali, the rate of mining royalties on volumes shipped is 3%. For the year ended December 31, 2021, mining royalties of
$2,455,000 were registered as expenses ($2,080,000 in 2020).
Net Smelter Royalties (‘‘NSR’’)
We are subject to NSR royalties ranging from 1% to 2% on our different exploration properties. NSR royalties will only come
into effect when we obtain an operating license on these properties.
For the operating license for gold and minerals on a portion of the Mininko property, NSR royalties of $752,000 were
recorded as expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 ($836,000 in 2020).
Purchase Obligations
As of December 31, 2021, the Company has engaged with various unrelated vendors to purchase property, plant and
equipment in the amount of $2,150,000 ($2,804,000 as of December 31, 2020) and supplies and spare parts inventory in
the amount of $4,423,000 ($5,516,000 as of December 31, 2020).
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Payments for the Maintenance of Mineral Rights
In the normal course of business, in order to obtain and retain all of the benefits associated with the holding of our mining
licenses, we must commit ourselves to invest a predetermined amount in the exploration and development of the lands
covered by the permits that we hold over the period of validity of these licenses. In addition, we are required to make annual
payments to retain certain property titles. As of December 31, 2021, we respected all the obligations arising from the holding
of our licenses in all their significant respects.
 NEWS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
New standards and amendments to existing standards have been issued and their adoption is mandatory for fiscal years
after December 31, 2021. Management has not yet determined the impact, if any, on the Company. These new accounting
standards adopted and standards issued but not yet effective are described in note 4 to our consolidated audited financial
statements as of December 31, 2021.
 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Estimates and assumptions that could result in material adjustments to our financial statements are
described in note 5 of our financial statements.
 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments are described in note 25 of our financial statements.
 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A related party is considered to include shareholders, affiliates, associates and entities under common control with the
Company and members of key management personnel.
Transactions between related parties are disclosed in note 26 to our financial statements.
 SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On April 20, 2022, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement ("SPA") in which the Company will issue a
maximum of 403,600,000 common shares (less closing adjustments such as potential liabilities) in the share capital of Robex
in exchange for 100% of the outstanding shares of Sycamore.
Pursuant to the terms of the SPA, the shares will be issued as follows:
•
242,160,000 Robex shares due at closing;
•
upon approval of the closing financial statements, a maximum of 60,540,000 Robex shares less a number of Robex
Shares equal to the aggregate amount of liabilities of Sycamore (on a consolidated basis); and
•
100,900,000 shares of Robex less such number of Shares equal to certain liabilities of Sycamore or the sellers not
addressed in (i) to be issued once a “Convention d’établissement” signed with the Government of Guinea providing for the
conditions under which the Kiniero Project will be operated or (ii) another binding document addressing such liabilities
Closing expected to occur before end of Q2 2022.

PAGE 13
ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

PA G E 1 3

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S ♦ YEAR 2021

[M A N A G E M E N T ‘ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S]

YEAR 2021

The completion of the Transaction is subject to a number of conditions precedent including, but not limited to: (i) the receipt
by Robex of a NI43‐101 technical report on the Kiniero Project and the acceptance of same by the TSX Venture Exchange
(the Exchange); and (ii) the approval of the Transaction by the Exchange.

3. FOURTH QUARTER FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS
During the fourth quarter of 2021, we realized gold sales of $34,929,000 and registered an operational result of $13,241,000,
compared to gold sales amounting to $28,388,000 and an operational result of $11,129,000 for the same period in 2020.
The increase of our operational result is notably due to the increase in production, which is 13,471 ounces of gold compared
to 10,803 ounces of gold for the same period in 2020. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company sold the
3,834 ounces of gold bullion inventory held as of September 30, 2021.
Besides, the Nampala mine realized new tonnage records at the end of the year, amounting to 192,024 tonnes treated
monthly for a daily average of 6,194 tonnes in December. Last December, the replacement of the cyclone pumps allowed
us to eliminate the main tonnage limitation in 2021.
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4. QUARTELY RESULTS
2021
Q4

Q3

Q2

2020
Q1

Year

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

Year

(in thousands of dollars, except for amounts per share)

Results
34,929

Revenue – Gold sales

16,672

26,051

26,241

103,893

28,388

45,864

15,714

30,864

120,830

1

3,950

9,465

9,823

16,121

11,558

23,897

(144)

9,715

45,026

(7,339)

4,127

9,395

9,710

15,893

11,410

23,195

338

9,666

44,609

(7,117)

Net income (loss)
Attributable to
‐ Shareholders

222

(177)

70

113

228

148

702

(482)

49

417

(0,012)

0.007

0.016

0.016

0,026

0.019

0.039

0.001

0.017

0.076

(0,012)

0.007

0.016

0.016

0,026

0.019

0.039

0.001

0.016

0.074

4,647

5,207

12,388

11,526

33,768

10,825

28,058

7,458

18,749

65,090

Ore mined (tonnes)

548,485

484,359

507,986

477,350

2,018,180

488,413

406,005

456,091

502,280

1,852,789

Ore processed (tonnes)

519,749

481,690

474,435

472,410

1,948,284

487,771

438,367

483,460

476,720

1,886,318

0.88

0.79

0.82

0.76

0.81

0.78

0.86

1.00

1.10

0.93

Recovery (%)

91.6%

92.1%

89.2%

92.8%

91.4%

88.0%

88.2%

89.5%

88.8%

89.1%

Gold ounces produced

13,471

11,317

11,124

10,642

46,554

10,803

10,706

13,921

14,918

50,348

Gold ounces sold

15,413

7,348

11,739

11,502

46,002

11,696

18,121

6,500

14,646

50,963

2,266

2,269

2,219

2,281

2,258

2,427

2,531

2,418

2,107

2,371

16

19

18

18

18

18

20

15

17

17

‐ Non‐controlling interest
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Cash flows from operating activities

2

NAMPALA
Operating Data

Head grade (g/t)

Statistics (in Canadian dollars)
Average realized selling price (per ounce)
Cash operating cost (per tonne processed)

3

821

790

813

856

823

845

678

631

560

676

1257

1,5594

1,560

1,732

1,502

1,989

1,072

1,2615

968

1,277

Administrative expenses (per ounce sold)

241

4494

187

195

249

215

116

3925

113

173

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and intangibles assets (per ounce sold)

178

393

272

229

249

275

192

504

409

Total cash cost (per ounce sold)

2

All‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)2

4

1,040

5

1

For the fourth quarter of 2021, net income includes a provision for a tax adjustment for prior years of $14,276,807.
Cash flows from operating activities exclude net change in non‐cash working capital items.
3
Cash operating cost, total cash cost and all‐in sustaining cost are non‐IFRS financial performance measures with no standard definition under IFRS. See
the "Non‐IFRS Financial Performance Measures" section of this document, on page 42.
4
For the third quarter of 2021, all‐inclusive maintenance cost per ounce sold, administrative expenses per ounce sold and fixed assets depreciation per
ounce sold are significantly impacted by gold bars inventories of 3,834 ounces as of September 30, 2021, which was only sold in the fourth quarter of 2021.
5
For the second quarter of 2020, the all‐in sustaining cost per ounce sold, the administrative expenses per once sold and the depreciation of property,
plant and equipment per once sold are impacted notably by the inventory of gold ingots of 7,831 ounces as of June 30, 2020, which was sold during the
third quarter of 2020.
2
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5. OPERATIONS
A. MINING OPERATIONS (GOLD)
2021

2020

Ore mined (tonnes)

2,018,180

1,852,789

Ore processed (tonnes)

1,948,284

1,886,318

Waste mined (tonnes)

8,290,782

6,193,081

4.1

3.3

Operating Data

Operational stripping ratio

0.81

0.93

Recovery

91.4%

89.1%

Gold ounces produced

46,554

50,348

Gold ounces sold

46,002

50,963

Revenue – Gold sales

103,893,000

120,830,000

Mining operation expenses

(34,633,000)

(31,550,000)

(3,207,000)

(2,915,000)

Head grade (g/t)

Financial Data
(rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars)

Mining royalties
Administrative expenses

(11,456,000)

(8,809,000)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets

(11,452,000)

(20,849,000)

43,145,000

56,707,000

2,258

2,371

18

17

823

676

Segment operating income
Statistics
(in dollars)

Average realized selling price (per ounce)
Cash operating cost (per tonne processed)1
Total cash cost (per ounce

sold)1

1,502

1,277

Adjusted all‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)1

956

797

Administrative expenses (per ounce sold)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets
(per ounce sold)

249

173

249

409

All‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)

1

Cash operating cost, total cash cost, all‐in sustaining cost and adjusted all‐in sustaining cost are non‐IFRS financial performance measures with no standard
definition under IFRS. See the "Non‐IFRS Financial Performance Measures" section of this document, on page 42.

1
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Comments:


The quantity of ore mined was 2,018,180 tonnes in 2021 compared to 1,852,789 tonnes in 2020, a 9% increase.



The quantity of waste mined was 8,290,782 tonnes in 2021, corresponding to an operational stripping ratio of 4.1,
compared to 6,193,081 tonnes in 2020, corresponding to an operational stripping ratio of 3.3. The increase of this
average ratio for 2021 is due to the execution of large amounts of stripping work.



In 2021, the Nampala plant managed to process a larger quantity of ore, which totaled 1,948,284 tonnes compared to
1,866,318 tonnes in 2020. The installation of new equipment in 2021 enabled us to increase the processing capacity of
the plant. However, the ore processed during 2021 was surface ore that has been notably harder to process.



In 2021, the Nampala mine produced 46,554 ounces of gold compared to 50,348 ounces of gold in 2020, a 8% decrease.
Gold production has been harder because the grades of the ore in the top strips of the new pits in development are
lower than the grade of the ore at the bottom of the main pit. The average grade of the treated ore has therefore been
0.81 g/t in 2021 compared to 0.93 g/t in 2020. Despite the decrease of the feeding grade, recovery has been improved
(91.4% compared to 89.1%).



Administrative expenses amounted to $11,456,000 in 2021 compared to $8,809,000 in 2020. The institutional and social
crisis in Mali, among other things, led the Company to significantly strengthen security at the mine site and therefore
allocate a considerably large budget to that area. Furthermore, in connection with the unexpected tax adjustment in
2021, the Company hired fiscal advisors for an amount of $1,388,000 to assist in its efforts to challenge the merits of
the adjustment, as the Company vigorously defends its position.



The decrease in fixed asset amortization reflects the prospective application of adding new resources and reserves on
July 31, 2020, and February 15, 2021, extending the remaining mine lifespan. Furthermore, the lower gold production
in 2021 has had the effect of reducing fixed asset amortization calculated using the units of production method.



The increase in the all‐in sustaining cost1 ($1,502 compared to $1,277 per ounce sold in 2020) is explained by an increase
in the total cash cost1 ($823 compared to $676 per ounce sold for the same period in 2020), but also by production
costs capitalized as higher stripping costs ($21,937,000 compared with $16,415,000 in 2020). Among other things, the
exploration of the new pits around the main pit required production drilling and blasting operations on the pit crust to
reach the ore.

The all‐in sustaining cost and total cash cost are non‐IFRS financial measures for which there is no standardized definition under IFRS. Se the "Non‐IFRS
Financial Performance Measures" section of this document, on page 42.

1
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B. MINERAL RESOURCES AND RESERVES: NAMPALA
2021 Mineral Resource Estimate1
Category

Indicated

Cut‐off
Au (g/t)
0.25

Weathering type
Oxide

Grade
Au (g/t)
0.64

Metal content
Au (000 oz)
473

0.33

Transition

7,039

0.84

190

0.71

Fresh rock

2,407

1.41

109

Subtotal

Inferred

Tonnage
(000 t)
22,836

32,282

0.74

772

0.25

Oxide

191

0.45

3

0.33

Transition

85

0.78

2

0.71

Fresh rock

280

1.24

11

555

0.90

16

32,838

0.75

788

Subtotal
Total

The independent and qualified persons for the Mineral Resource estimate are Mr. Denis Boivin, B.Sc., Geo. (OGQ #816) and Mr. Richard
Barbeau, Mining Eng. (OIQ #36572), and the effective date of the estimate is February 15, 2021.

2020 Mineral Reserve Estimate1
Probable Mineral Reserve
Weathering type

Cut‐off
Au (g/t)

Tonnage
(000 t)

Grade
Au (g/t)

Metal content
Au (000 oz)

Oxide

0.28

15,291

0.69

339

Upper transition

0.31

Total

1,857

0.87

52

17,147

0.71

391

The independent and qualified persons for the Mineral Reserve Estimate, as defined by NI 43‐101, are Mr. Denis Boivin, B.Sc., Geo.
(OGQ #816) and Mr. Mario Boissé, Mining Eng. (OIQ #130715), and the effective date of the estimate is July 31, 2020.

All the economic parameters were published on March 30, 2021, in the press release that you can find on our website.

1

See the last annual MD&A to obtain all the notes regarding the tables.
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C. EXPLORATION
 MINING PROPERTIES
On April 8, 2022, the Gladie permit Cession Order, which officially allocates the possession of this permit to the Company,
was obtained. Robex therefore currently holds five exploration permits, all located in Mali, in West Africa. Three of Robex’s
permits are situated in southern Mali (Mininko, Kamasso and Gladié), while the other two are located in the western part
of the country (Sanoula and Diangounté).
 2022 EXPLORATION PROGRAM
The Geology Department is in the process of restructuring its exploration process to include the new Kiniero asset, located
in the Republic of Guinea, with those in Mali. The Group will now have four main exploration targets:
1) West Mali (Sanoula and Diangounté): Permit‐ scale exploration of both properties has recently been completed. This
program included recalculation and interpretation of airborne magnetic and radiometric data, sourcing recent
panchromatic high resolution satellite imagery and Sentenial‐2 DEM data. Detailed BLEG sampling was completed over
both permits, and results for Sanoula (highly encouraging) have already been received. Geological recognition mapping
identified concordant silicifications and clay alterations, targeted from the geophysical dataset. In 2022, the work
program will include RC drilling exploration coupled with surface mapping and sampling programs.
2) East Mali (Mininko, Gladie and Kamasso): A complete reassessment of the geological configuration of these respective
properties was completed, using reprocessed airborne magnetic and radiometric data, as well as electromagnetic data
for the Mininko and Gladie permits. A new GIS drawing covering the project, with high resolution panchromatic satellite
imagery and Sentenial‐2 DEM data, served as the basis for the geophysical interpretation. The discovery of a series of
high‐quality anomalies drove the decision to cover the northern permits (Mininko and Gladié) with complete BLEG
coverage. A series of clearly and structurally controlled Au‐type anomalies have been identified. Drilling began at the
end of the period covered by this report on the first Mininko anomaly, and will continue to include a series of significant
anomalies identified on the Gladie permit.

3) Guinea (Kiniero and Mansounia): At Kiniero and Mansounia, Sycamore proceeded with exploration drill programs and

resource definition progressed alongside the identification of targets in brownfields. The integrated permits package
was covered by an extensive LiDAR survey program to establish a geodetic framework for planning the mine’s
exploration and exploitation. BLEG programs were executed over brownfield and resource extension targets and have
provided control for step out resource drilling at Sabali Extension.

4) Guinea (Mansounia North and Southeast Gobelé A Sector ("SGA")): The Sycamore geological team was able to locate
historical aerial magnetic datasets for both properties and this data has recently been reanalyzed and reinterpreted.
This work has generated several additional exploration targets and provided additional control enhancing the
interrogation of BLEG results. Drill testing on the first target south of the historic SGA pit detected an extensive zone of
potassic alteration, pervasive silicification and multiple phases of sulphuric mineralization.
Resource drilling at Sabali has been ongoing, and the next increase in the Resource and first Reserves will be reported later
in the year. The first deep exploration drillhole at SGA and testing of the new model by the geology team intersected 3 zones
of high‐grade mineralization. A high‐performance multipurpose drill rig (RC and diamond) is currently on‐site. This machine
will allow the geological team to carry out a detailed appraisal of the target and its economic potential.
Exploration has advanced through the central area of the Kiniero permit, with extensions of the BLEG sampling program and
modelling of airborne magnetic anomalies. This area will be ready for exploration drilling in 2022.
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D. THE TRADING HOUSE
On June 5, 2014, the Company announced that it had finalized the implementation of the corporate structure related to the
Trading House (defined hereunder) together with its marketing strategy related to the sale of the gold produced at the gold
mine in Nampala, Mali (the “Mine”).
The legal control of the Trading House will rest in a trust formed under the laws of Gibraltar, the Golden International Income
Trust (the “Trust”), of which the sole beneficiary is the Company. The Trust is also controlled by a protector, who is acting
pursuant to the terms of a supervision and control policy (the “Supervision and Control Policy”) under which the protector
must report annually at the Company’s annual shareholders’ meeting.
Under the Gold Loan, Nampala S.A. must deliver to the Trading House possession of all gold bars extracted from the Mine,
over a five‐year period, to repay the capital and interest owed under the Gold Loan by Nampala S.A. to the Trading House.
The Trading House will manage gold refining by contracting with refiners located in Europe, in order to subsequently sell
the refined gold directly to the international market. This follows the example of major mining corporations.
The Trading House distributes the profits to the Company by way of intercompany dividends. Following the repayment of
the Loan, the Trading House will benefit from the Gold Supply Agreement, pursuant to the same terms and conditions as
the Loan.
On December 6, 2018, an agreement was reached between the Trading House and Nampala S.A. giving rise to a new loan
of EUR 7,622,451 (CAD 11.6 million), through a gold stream credit agreement ("gold loan"). This financing of the gold loan,
similar to the financing of the 2014 gold loan, allowed Nampala S.A. to complete its financing structure with a favourable
interest rate on this financing at 5% (compared to 11% in 2014). This transaction also includes the increase in the
capitalization of the Trading House of a total amount of EUR 7,622,451, paid by the Company on December 6, 2018. As part
of this loan, Nampala S.A. will deliver to the Trading House all gold bullion extracted from the mine over a period of seven
years, in payment of the capital and interest due under the gold loan.
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6. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
A. ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE INDICATORS (‘‘ESG’’)
 ENVIRONMENT
Monitoring Program
The Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE”) department conducts continuous mine site environmental monitoring. During
the year 2021, the strategic objectives have been updated in order to ensure the continuity of the Company’s commitment
to promote an environmental culture allowing for the protection of the environment and the prevention of any pollution.
No negative significative event is to be noted for this period.
Wastewater Recycling
Water being a scarce natural resource in Mali, the plant’s process water operates in a closed circuit. During the decantation
process, the water is distributed in a tailings pond and was subject to technical controls. Furthermore, again with the
objective of better managing wastewater, two new septic tanks have been built and an area for the cleaning of the big
machines is currently being constructed.
Waste Incineration
In 2020, following a comprehensive environmental impact audit conducted at Nampala’s request, in conjunction with the
Direction Nationale de la Géologie et des Mines (“DNGM”), an action plan had been put in place to complete the actions
already undertaken and which have reached a level of compliance that exceeds the simple legal requirements. In particular,
Nampala continued to build a waste storage and disposal center with the installation of an incinerator in 2021. This project
was completed at the beginning of 2022 and completes the polluted water treatment station, the waste oil stocking
structure, as well as the garbage sorting policy with color codes.
Yearly Reforestation Campaign
Each year, Nampala plants trees as part of its reforestation campaigns. The main objectives of these campaigns are the
following:








To plant and maintain the vegetation in the communities neighbouring the mine;
To promote the environmental culture by involving the community actors in the reforestation process;
To increase the green spaces around the mine;
To compensate for the deforested spaces within the mine;
To combat erosion and climate changes;
To cement the relationship between the mine and the surrounding villages; and
To partially offset the company’s carbon print.
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During 2021, the Company planted 1,000 young plants within the mine, 3,000 plants in the N’Golola village and 4,922 plants
in the N’Tjikouna rural community, thus reforesting approximately 9 hectares.

 SOCIAL
Personnel Demographics
As of December 31, 2021, the Company employed 805 workers, including subcontractors, 34% of whom were Nampala
employees. The average employee age was 37 years, and the majority were under 40 years old. Also, 7 workers are older
than 55 years old even though they could retire, since this is the legal retirement age in Mali for some categories of workers.
Since September 2016, Nampala has employed some of its workers through a staffing agency (Talents Plus Conseil Mali
SARL, hereafter “Talents Plus”). These contract staff enjoy the same benefits as Nampala employees, such as salary scales,
continuous training programs and medical follow‐ups.

Nampala
Trainees
Talent Plus
Subcontractors
Total

2021

2020

274
2
66
463
805

282
10
43
537
872
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Since the start of operations, we have focused on local recruitment and training to demonstrate our commitment to Mali.
Today, we are happy to report that:








95% of the Nampala workers are Malian nationals;
34% of the workforce are from the surrounding villages;
31% of the workforce are from the Sikasso region;
5% of the total workforce in Nampala are women;
78% of the 45 managers are Malian, including 2 women; and
100% of the managers in the eight subcontracting structures are Malian.

Personnel Recruitment
Nampala hired a number of staff in 2021 in compliance with the recruitment policy:
Employment
category
Workers
Supervisors
Managers and
technicians
Total

Sex

Quantity

Men
Women
Men
Women
Men
Women
Men
Women
Total

6
1
0
0
10
0

Total

RECRUITMENT MEN / WOMEN
52

7
0

16

16
1
17

3

1

10
2021

2020
Men

Women

In compliance with the Company’s human resources development policy, the Company prioritizes hiring trainees when a
position becomes available. Job postings are published in the Mine, with local agencies and in the villages.
Health
Since January 2017, the Nampala mine has provided health care coverage for all Nampala employees, including their
respective legally dependent family members.
Furthermore, we have excellent collaboration with the INPS (‘‘Institut National de Prévoyance Sociale’’) and the AMO
(‘‘Assurance Maladie Obligatoire’’). To this end, we declare all workers to the INPS at the beginning of the contract and to
the AMO when the contribution period reaches six months as required by law.
To monitor and improve the health of our employees and subcontractors we have started medical records and regular
medical visits at site.

PAGE 25
ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

PA G E 2 5

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S ♦ YEAR 2021

[M A N A G E M E N T ‘ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S]

YEAR 2021

Staff training:
As part of Nampala’s training policy, all employees have access to training on various subjects. This training provides the
workers with better tools to achieve safety and production objectives.
Total
in hours

Total
participants

Workers

Supervisors

Managers and
technicians

Software

1,362

198

0

2

196

Plant

2021 Training

1,080

120

19

101

0

Food safety

720

30

0

30

0

Safety (risk prevention)

398

76

36

20

20

Mobil equipment

374

15

0

15

0

Management

353

113

30

27

56

Electricity

300

26

0

0

26

Communautary development

139

27

0

0

27

Maintenance

118

51

45

6

0

Health

78

27

0

0

27

Security

33

11

0

11

0

Gestures and postures

14

7

0

0

7

Occupational Accidents
No work accident has been observed on the Nampala site since February 1, 2021, when a subcontractor suffered a minor
injury.
Work Schedules
Since operations run 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, the mine site has 2 shifts, including a day shift from 7 a.m. to 6 p.m. and
an evening shift from 6 p.m. to 6 a.m., for the pit, plant and maintenance departments. For the other departments, the work
schedule is from 7 a.m. to 5 p.m. Senior management has implemented a break and rest system for all personnel.
Personnel Evaluations
Worker evaluations are an effective way to take stock of a company’s human resources situation. Evaluation results also
allow managers to clarify the direction of their management strategies, advancement opportunities, promotions, and the
organization of training, among other things.
The 2019 personnel evaluations were a framework to first measure efforts and possible advancements, but also to qualify
workers’ raises. After the 2020 evaluations, we gave some workers raises. In 2021, 16% of the workers obtained a promotion
following evaluations. Furthermore, the HR management is working on implementing a productivity management policy in
order to obtain more commitments from social partners.
Democratic Organization of Elections
Since the creation of Nampala, the Company has maintained a strong social dialogue and active relations with the main
mining unions in Mali. We currently have three unions on‐site: the SECMIMA, the CSTM and the SYLTMIN.
In December 2020, an election has been organized to elect staff representatives and the Hygiene and Security Committee
for a mandate of three years, according to the legal and regulatory dispositions.
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Internal Human Resources Department (“HR Department”)
The HR Department’s objective is to mobilize and develop the Company’s human capital to achieve greater productivity and
a better quality of work. Its main objectives are to enhance skills, motivation, information and organization. The HR
Department also addresses the relationship between the organization and its employees, from recruitment to when the
employee leaves the Company.
In addition to managing personnel, the department implements the Company’s strategy daily, managing and supporting
personnel through changes made, with training policies, pay raises, annual skills assessment, etc. It administers the daily
operations, manages conflicts, handles payroll and administrative tasks and meets legal obligations such as registering new
workers with the INPS and AMO.
It ensures that social institutions function properly. The HR Department ensures that the community of workers functions
smoothly and respectfully.
Social Relations
The relations with labour and mining institutions (Direction Régionale des Transports, Institut National de la Prévoyance
Sociale, Assurance Maladie Obligatoire, Direction des Recherches Géologiques et Minières, Direction Nationale de la
Géologie et des Mines) are cordial. Nampala continues its dialogue efforts with the workers representatives with the
objective of maintaining good relationships with all its collaborators.
 GOVERNANCE
A health and safety committee verifies and monitors worker conditions every year; it has equal labour/management
representation. The Company tracks all operations through an Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system that undergoes
regular backup. This ERP ensures high operational transparency. Payroll is tracked with Malian software. Administrators are
informed and consulted on operations in addition to regular meetings.
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B. CONTRIBUTIONS TO MALI
In West Africa, mines are criticized for not contributing enough to the economies of those countries in which they operate.
The table below describes the taxation amounts paid directly by the Nampala mine to the Malian government in fiscal terms:

(rounded off to the nearest thousand)

1

2021

2020

$

$

Tax adjustment for prior years

6,741,000

‐‐‐

Value‐Added Tax (VAT) amounts outstanding

5,020,000

7,128,000

Import duties

3,476,000

3,037,000

Special Tax for certain products (Impôt spécial sur certains produits ‐ ISCP)

1,802,000

2,305,000

Wage taxes and charges

1,110,000

1,040,000

Tax deducted at source

913,000

1,038,000

Income Tax

841,000

1,466,000

Export duties

662,000

597,000

Tax on fixed assets

664,000

552,000

21,229,000

17,163,000

Total

In addition to its tax obligations, the Nampala mine endeavours to be a responsible mine that seeks out long‐term solutions.

C. COVID‐19 RESPONSE
The Nampala mine implemented a monitoring and prevention program, which it has followed since the beginning of the
COVID‐19 pandemic. In 2020, this program went as far as total lockdown. Since then, the mine has resumed “almost normal”
operations but under great vigilance. Although we must not let our guard down, the Malian crisis has not yet had the
uncontrolled aspect that some people feared. This situation may develop unfavourably, particularly with the variants.
As the crisis is not over, the mine remains very cautious and is carrying out numerous protection and monitoring measures;
it is partnering with the Bamako health authorities and is carrying out the same protective measures as elsewhere in the
world (screening, hygiene and safety measures, reminders of measures and precautions).

1

The amounts paid in CFA francs were converted in line with the year’s average annual rate i.e., 442.593 for 2021 and 429.067 for 2020.
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D. MINE‐SCHOOL
The Nampala mine believes that its most significant contribution to sustainable and responsible development is to help its
Malian employees obtain or complete their professional qualifications, thereby ensuring long careers within the Company.
Therefore, the Nampala mine is often presented in Mali by many stakeholders as a mine‐school.
In 2019, a training center was created with a specialized employee, dedicated full‐time to running it. The centre offers many
diversified types of continuous courses. Depending on the subject matter, the training may also be provided to the
employees of subcontractors. Furthermore, several Malian managers at the mine have been trained in Canada and France.
The result of these efforts has been that the mine’s managers are mostly Malian, something which the Company can be
proud of. One direct impact of this policy has been that the number of expatriates has been reduced, and the upper reaches
of the organizational chart for the Nampala site is composed mainly of Malian and sub‐region managers.
But the Nampala mine is also supporting those with the greatest learning needs. To this end, since 2019, the Company has
established a literacy program for the mine’s adults and for people with community responsibilities, in cooperation with the
Government of Switzerland.
This center radically improves the prospects of employees recruited from the villages and will provide access to knowledge
to those who are most active in town and village lives. Another impact of this center is that it has created a meeting place
where mine employees and the main actors of local life can get to know each other better, which helps avoid tensions.
It is obvious that this mine‐school is a modern, sustainable, and responsible action that will have long‐lasting impacts on the
life of the people who have already benefited from it and who will benefit from it.
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E. NEW PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED IN 2021 FOR NEIGHBOURING POPULATIONS
Category
Education and
training

Robex actions
Phase 2 of the literacy program within the mine and for the communities and the employees of the mine, consisting of
trainings focused on revenue‐generating activities and on modern and commercial agriculture.
Training community leaders and internal trainers at the mine on the dangers related to gold washing, as well as on
promoting modern and commercial agriculture, with the objective of training hundreds of gold washers in the course
of 2022.
Enrolling youth from the Nampala, Ntjikouna and Finkolo villages in professional trainings in automobile mechanics
and electromechanics at the Sikasso Jean Bosco Centre.

Health

Continuing the training program started at the beginning of the previous year for the healthcare staff in the
neighbouring communities by a medical team from Bamako with the objective of tackling COVID‐19.

Infrastructure

Watering and molasses spreading on the roads between the villages.
Maintaining the Finkolo community mosque and healthcare centre access paths.

Religion

Financially supporting the Nourdine Muslim religious education centre in Nièna and the Koran reading in Nampala.

Sports

Supporting of cycling competition organization in Nièna, Nampala and Finkolo.
Supporting the Finkolo sports committee for the municipality's participation in the Sikasso league football competition.

Support for
local women’s
associations

Supporting a women’s garden product purchase partnership.
Delivering 3 sewing machines as well as fabrics to women's associations for making masks to protect against Covid‐19.
Creating two community gardens of about 2 hectares, each including two drilling sites, two water towers and two
fences as well as supplemental irrigation installations for the women of Nampala and Ntjikouna.
Initiating contact between women in Nampala and Ntjikouna and an agronomy firm specialized in gardening for higher
yields and improved profitability of the agricultural products and a better market control.
Supporting women in Finkolo to install drilling sites and a water tower in their rice processing facility.
Supporting women in the Ntjikouna and Nampala villages by supplying gumbo seeds and women in the Finkolo coop
by supplying rice seeds.
Improving the women restaurant in Finkolo.

Support for
youth
associations

Providing technical and financial support to create three economic interest groups for young people in the Finkolo,
Nampala and Ntjikouna villages.
Financial supporting to the youth associations to allow the young people to create profitable activities and to support
local employment.
Organizing a training campaign, which is scheduled for the first quarter of 2022, for 300 young people explaining the
dangers of gold washing as well as promoting modern and commercial agriculture.

Others

Distributing fans to the communities.
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F. ESTABLISHED CHARTERS AND POLICIES
Since the plant’s inception, ROBEX has striven to operate with a high level of social responsibility. We have established
charters and policies that we scrupulously apply and regularly update. These can be found on our website at
www.robexgold.com.
Moreover, since April 4, 2014, ROBEX has adhered to the UN Global Compact, which espouses these 10 principles.
UN Global Compact Principles
1. Businesses should support and respect the protection
of internationally proclaimed human rights.
2. Make sure that they are not complicit in human rights
abuses.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

8.

Businesses should uphold the freedom of association
and the effective recognition of the right to collective
bargaining.
Uphold the elimination of all forms of forced and
compulsory labour.
Uphold the effective abolition of child labour.
Uphold the elimination of discrimination in respect of
employment and occupation.
Businesses should support a precautionary approach
to environmental challenges.

Undertake
initiatives
to
promote
greater
environmental responsibility.
9. Encourage the development and diffusion of
environmentally friendly technologies.
10. Businesses should work against corruption in all its
forms, including extortion and bribery.

ROBEX actions
Establishment of a responsible purchasing charter as an
addendum to the main contracts.
Raising human rights awareness among security teams. The
mine employs only adults who are paid according to a scale
based on the collective agreement for the mining industry
in Mali. We do not tolerate any human rights violations.
The Nampala mine has three union organizations. Several
raises were implemented. The right to strike has been
exercised and respected.
Every worker has an employment contract approved by the
labour directorate (an administrative department).
Children are prohibited from working in the mine.
The Nampala mine employs Malians in the highest
positions. Due to staff turnover, Malians often manage the
Nampala mine.
There is specific environmental monitoring within the HSE
(Health, Safety and Environment department). The mine
has conducted an environmental audit and is following up
on its recommendations.
The mine publishes water data in the communities.
The mine is developing a solar power plant that will reduce
greenhouse gases.
The mine has established an ethics charter and a dedicated
address for disclosing facts that may constitute prohibited
situations.

Nampala has been certified ISO 45001:2018 since April 12, 2021. Moreover, we are proud to be the first mine in Mali to
obtain this certification. The International Labour Organization has also certified the HSE personnel.
An anti‐corruption code of conduct is regularly distributed, mainly at the Nampala mine, in order to reiterate the rigor we
must observe in this area.
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7. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
As a mining company, we face the financial and operational risks inherent to the nature of our activities. These risks may
affect our financial condition and results of operation. As a result, an investment in our common shares should be considered
speculative. Prospective purchasers or holders of our common shares should give careful consideration to all of our risk
factors.

A. FINANCIAL RISKS
Fluctuation in Gold Prices
The profitability of our operations will be significantly affected by changes in the market price of gold. Gold production from
mining and the willingness of third parties, such as central banks, to sell and lease gold have an impact on the gold supply.
The demand for gold can be influenced by economic conditions, the attractiveness of gold as an investment vehicle and the
strength of the US dollar. Other factors include interest and exchange rates, inflation and political stability. The overall
incidence of these factors is impossible to predict accurately.
In addition, the price of gold has, on some occasions, been subject to very rapid short‐term variations due to speculative
activities. Fluctuations in gold prices can have a significant adverse impact on our financial situation and on our operating
income.
Fluctuation in Petroleum Prices
Because we use petroleum fuel to power our mining equipment and to generate electrical energy to power our mining
operations, an increase in our financial condition and results of operation may be materially adversely affected by rising
petroleum prices.
Exchange Rate Fluctuations
Our operations in Mali are subject to currency fluctuations that may materially adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operation. Gold is currently sold in euros, and the majority of our costs are calculated in FCFA. The exchange rate
between the Euro and the FCFA is set by the European Central Bank and has remained unchanged for the last ten years at
a rate of FCFA 655.957 for 1 euro. However, some of our costs are incurred in other currencies, such as the US dollar and
the Canadian dollar.
The appreciation of other currencies against the Euro can increase the cost of exploration and production in Canadian dollar
terms, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operation.
Interest Rate Fluctuations
All of the Company's financial instruments and their lines of credit and long‐term debt bear interest at a fixed rate and are
therefore not exposed to interest rate risk.
Access to Debt Financing
The Company's activities depend on its ability to continue to have the necessary financing through borrowing. While
management has been successful in securing funding in the past, there is no guarantee of future success, and there can be
no assurance that these funding sources or initiatives will be available to the Company or available on terms acceptable to
the Company.
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B. OPERATIONAL RISKS
Uncertainty of Reserve and Resource Estimates
Reserves and resources are estimates based on limited information acquired through drilling and various sampling methods.
No assurance can be given that anticipated tonnages and grades will be achieved or that level of recovery will be realized.
The ore grade actually recovered may differ from the estimated grades of the reserves and resources. Such figures have
been determined based upon assumed gold prices and operating costs.
Future production could differ drastically from what is foreseen in the reserve estimates, particularly for the following
reasons:
 Mineralization or formations could differ from those predicted by drilling, sampling and similar examinations;
 Increases in operating mining costs and processing costs could materially adversely affect reserves;
 The grade of the reserves may vary significantly from time to time and there is no assurance that any particular level
of gold may be recovered from the reserves; and
 A decline in the market price of gold may render the mining of some or all of the reserves uneconomic.
Any of these factors may translate into increased costs or a reduction in our estimated reserves. Short‐term factors, such as
the need for the additional development of a deposit or the processing of new or different grades, may impair our
profitability. Should the market price of gold fall, we could be required to materially write down our investment in mining
properties or delay or discontinue production or the development of new projects.
Production and Cost Estimates
No assurance can be given that the intended or expected production schedules or the estimated cash costs and capital
expenditures will be achieved. Failure to achieve production or cost estimates or material increases in costs could have an
adverse impact on our future cash flows, profitability, results of operations and financial condition.
Many factors may cause delays or cost increases, including labour issues, disruptions in power, transportation or supplies,
and mechanical failure. In addition, short‐term operating factors, such as the need for the orderly development of ore bodies
or the processing of new or different ore grades, may cause a mining operation to be unprofitable in any particular period.
Furthermore, our activities may be subject to prolonged disruptions due to weather conditions. Hazards, such as unusual or
unexpected formations, rock bursts, pressures, cave‐ins, flooding or other conditions may be encountered in the drilling and
removal of material.
Our cost to produce an ounce of gold is further dependent on a number of factors, including the grade of the reserves,
recovery and processing capacity, the cost of raw materials, inflationary pressures in general, and exchange rates. Our future
performance may therefore differ materially from the estimated return. Since these factors are beyond our control, there
can be no assurance that our cost will be similar from year to year.
Nature of Mineral Exploration and Mining
Our profitability is significantly affected by our exploration and development programs. The exploration and development
of mineral deposits involves significant risks over a long period of time, which even a combination of careful evaluation,
experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of a gold‐bearing structure may result in substantial
rewards, few properties explored are ultimately developed into mines. Major expenses may be required to establish and
replace reserves by drilling and to construct mining and processing facilities at a site. It is impossible to ensure that our
current or proposed exploration programs will result in profitable commercial mining operations.
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Whether a gold deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, some of which are the particular
attributes of the deposit, such as its size and grade, proximity to infrastructure, financing costs and governmental
regulations, including regulations relating to taxes, royalties, infrastructure, land use, import and export of gold, revenue
repatriation and environmental protection. The effects of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination
of these factors may preclude us from receiving an adequate return on invested capital. Our operations are, and will
continue to be, subject to all of the hazards and risks normally associated with the exploration, development and production
of gold, any of which could result in damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible legal liability for any or
all damage.
Risk Related to External Contractors
Under mining services contracts, pit operations are carried out by external contractors. As a result, our operations are
subject to risks, some of which are beyond our control, including:







Inability to replace the contractor and its operating equipment in the event that either party terminates the
agreement;
Reduced control over certain aspects of the operations that are the responsibility of the contractor;
Failure by the contractor to fulfil its obligation under the mining services contract;
An interruption of operations in the event that the contractor ceases to operate due to insolvency or other
circumstances;
The contractor’s failure to comply with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements under its responsibility;
and
The entrepreneur’s problems in managing his workforce, a labour dispute or other related to his employees.

In addition, we may incur liability to third parties as a result of the actions of a contractor. Although the mining contractors
involved in these projects are well established and reputable, the occurrence of one or more of these risks could have a
significant adverse impact on our financial situation and our results of operation.
Limited Property Portfolio
Currently, our only mineral property in operation is our Nampala mine in Mali. If we do not acquire or develop new mineral
properties, any adverse development affecting our Nampala property could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operation.
Depletion of our Mineral Reserves
We must continually replace mining reserves depleted by production to maintain production levels over the long term. This
is done by expanding known mineral reserves or by locating or acquiring new mineral deposits. There is, however, a risk
that depletion of reserves will not be offset by future discoveries. Exploration for minerals is highly speculative in nature
and involves many risks. Many, if not most, gold projects are unsuccessful, and there are no assurances that current or
future exploration programs will be successful. In addition, significant costs are incurred to build up mineral reserves, to
open new pits and to construct mining and treatment facilities.
Water Supply
The mining operations we exercise at the Nampala mine in our installations require significant quantities of water for mining,
ore processing and related support facilities. Continuous production at our mines is dependent on our ability to access an
adequate water supply. An insufficient water supply, as a result of new regulations or otherwise, could materially adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operation.
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Fluctuation in the Price of Energy and Other Commodities
The profitability of our mining operations activities is affected by the market price and availability of commodities that are
consumed or otherwise used in connection with our operations such as diesel, fuel, steel, concrete and chemical products
(including cyanide). Prices of such commodities are affected by factors that are beyond our control. An increase in the cost
or decrease in the availability of needed commodities may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operation.
Licenses and Permits
We require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. We believe that we hold all necessary licenses and
permits under applicable laws and regulations in respect of our properties and that we presently comply in all material
respects with the terms of such licenses and permits.
Such licenses and permits, however, are subject to change in various circumstances. There can be no guarantee that we will
be able to obtain or maintain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required to continue to operate our current
undertakings to explore and develop properties or commence construction or operation of mining facilities and properties
under exploration or development. Failure to obtain new licenses and permits or successfully maintain current ones may
materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operation.
Political Risk, Terrorist Risk and Armed Banditry
While the Government of Mali has supported the development of its natural resources by foreign companies, there is no
assurance that the government will not in the future adopt different policies or new interpretations respecting foreign
ownership of mineral resources, rates of exchange, environmental protection, labor relations, conditions of mining codes
and repatriation of income or return of capital. Any limitation on transfer of cash or other assets between ROBEX and our
subsidiaries could restrict our ability to fund our operations, or it could materially adversely affect our financial condition
and results of operation.
Moreover, mining tax regimes in foreign jurisdictions are subject to differing interpretations and constant changes and may
not include fiscal stability provisions. Our interpretation of taxation law, including fiscal stability provisions, as applied to
our transactions and activities may not coincide with that of the tax authorities. As a result, taxes may increase and
transactions may be challenged by tax authorities and our operations may be assessed, which could result in significant
taxes, penalties and interest. We may also encounter difficulties in obtaining reimbursement of refundable tax from tax
authorities. The possibility that the government may adopt substantially different policies or interpretations, which might
extend to the expropriation of assets, cannot be ruled out.
We may also encounter difficulties in obtaining reimbursement of refundable tax from fiscal authorities, including with
respect to value added taxes (“VAT”). Prolonged delays in the receipt of VAT could materially adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operation.
Political risk also includes the possibility of civil disturbances and political instability in our or neighbouring countries as well
as threats to the security of our mines and workforce due to political unrest, civil wars or terrorist attacks. Any such activity
may disrupt our operations, limit our ability to hire and keep qualified personnel as well as restrict our access to capital.
It should be noted that the situation in Mali is deteriorating, as well as in neighbouring Burkina Faso and more generally in
the Sub‐Saharan arc. The degradation shared with the rest of the Sahel is of several types, notably with destabilization in
the centre of the country, which is moving closer to Bamako, and with infiltrations in the east linked to the unrest in Burkina
Faso, and infiltrations in the south at the border with Ivory Coast; social instability and political difficulties of all types. The
country saw the emergence of ethnic conflicts that did not exist and the presence of armed banditry, particularly on the
roads because of the presence of numerous weapons and militias and incidents are increasing in the Sikasso region. Due in
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part to the dependence on local forces and authorities, and despite the efforts that have been made, we cannot guarantee
that site and personnel safety can always be assured without difficulty.
Compliance, Fraud and Security Issues
If, as any company, the company must ensure the risks of fraud, the nature of its activity (gold production) and its
environment of extreme poverty and instabilities. A fierce struggle is carried out daily on some of these aspects and the
mine has completed its supervision with a specialized mining security framework with experience in Africa.
Also, the Company undertook a policy of consolidation of compliance, in particular by setting up a policy called AFP (Anti‐
Fraud Procedure) based on the 2013 COSO benchmark.
A gendarmerie is installed at the entrance of the mine. The site is monitored by several dozen digital cameras and patrolled
by several dozen guards. The National Guard and the Nampala mine have also just signed an agreement to set up a National
Guard group on the site in addition to the gendarmerie.
For several months now, one or more armed bands have been operating at a distance that is constantly moving closer to
the area where the Nampala mine is located. Many actions are carried out.
However, the Company must constantly adapt and there is no guarantee that the actions taken will be perfectly effective.
Title Matters
Title to mineral projects and exploration and exploitation rights involves certain inherent risks due to the potential for
problems arising from the ambiguous historical characteristics of mining projects. While we have no reason to believe that
the existence and extent of any mining property in which we have an interest is in doubt, title to mining properties is subject
to potential claims by third parties, and no guarantees can be provided that there are no unregistered agreements, claims
or defects which may result in our titles being challenged.
In addition, the failure to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including failure to pay taxes and carry out and
file assessment work within applicable time periods, may invalidate title to all or portions of the properties covered by our
permits and licenses.
Suppliers Risk
We are dependent on various services, equipment, supplies and parts to carry out our operations. The shortage of any
needed good, part or service may cause cost increases or delays in delivery time, thereby materially adversely affecting our
production schedules as well as financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we may incur liability to third parties as a result of the actions of a contractor. The occurrence of one or more
of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operation.
Competition
The mineral exploration and mining business is competitive in all of its phases. We compete with numerous other companies
and individuals, including competitors with greater financial, technical and other resources, in the search for and the
acquisition of attractive mineral properties, equipment and human resources. There is no assurance that we will continue
to be able to compete successfully with our competitors.
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Qualified and Key Personnel
In order to operate successfully, we must find and retain qualified employees with strong knowledge and expertise in the
mining environment. ROBEX and other companies in the mining industry compete for qualified and key personnel, and if
we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel or fail to establish adequate succession planning strategies, our
financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
Labour Relations
We are dependent on our workforce to extract and process minerals. Our relations with our employees may be impacted
by changes in labour relations which may be introduced by, among others, employee groups, unions and governmental
authorities. Furthermore, some of our employees are represented by labour unions under collective labour agreements.
We may find ourselves in the need to satisfactorily renegotiate our collective labour agreements upon their expiration. In
addition, existing labour agreements may not prevent a strike or work stoppage at our facilities in the future. Labour
disruptions could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operation.
Environmental Risks, Hazards and Costs
All phases of our operations are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner which
will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non‐compliance, more stringent
environmental assessments of proposed projects, and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their
officers, directors and employees. Environmental hazards which are unknown to us at present and which have been caused
by previous or existing owners or operations of the properties may exist on our properties. Failure to comply with applicable
environmental laws and regulations may result in enforcement actions and may include corrective measures that require
capital expenditures or remedial actions. There is no assurance that future changes in environmental laws and regulations
and permits governing operations and activities of mining companies, if any, will not materially adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.
Mining production involves the use of sodium cyanide, which is a toxic material. Should sodium cyanide leak or otherwise
be discharged from the containment system, we may become subject to liability for clean‐up work that may not be insured.
While all steps have been taken to prevent discharges of pollutants into ground water and the environment, we may become
subject to liability for hazards that may also not be insured.
In addition, natural resource companies are required to conduct their operations and rehabilitate the lands that they mine
in accordance with applicable environmental regulations. Our estimates of the total ultimate closure and rehabilitation costs
may be materially different from these actual costs. Any underestimated or unanticipated rehabilitation cost could
materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Insufficient Insurance
While we may obtain insurance against certain risks in such amounts as we consider adequate, available insurance may not
cover all the potential risks associated with a mining company’s operations. We may also be unable to maintain insurance
to cover insurable risks at economically feasible premiums, and insurance coverage may not be available in the future or
may not be adequate to cover any resulting loss. Moreover, insurance that covers risks such as mill sites, environmental
pollution, waste disposal or other hazards as a result of exploration and production is not generally available to gold mining
companies on acceptable terms. The potential costs which may be associated with any liabilities not covered by insurance
or in excess of insurance coverage or compliance with applicable laws and regulations may cause substantial delays and
require significant capital outlays, materially adversely affecting our financial condition and results of operations.
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Resource Nationalism
As African governments continue to struggle with deficits and depressed economies, the gold mining sector has been
targeted to raise revenues. Governments are continually assessing the terms for a mining company to exploit resources in
their countries. If translated into applicable law, the trend in resource nationalism could materially adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Many projects and new texts create concerns.
Relations with Surrounding Communities
Natural resource companies increasingly face public scrutiny of their activities. We are under pressure to demonstrate that,
as we seek to generate satisfactory returns for our shareholders, other stakeholders including local governments and the
communities surrounding our mine in Mali.
The potential consequences of these pressures include reputational damage, lawsuits, increasing social investment
obligations and pressure to increase taxes and royalties payable to local governments and surrounding communities. These
pressures may also impair our ability to successfully obtain the permits and approvals required for our operations.
In addition, our properties in Mali may be subject to the rights or asserted rights of various community stakeholders.
Moreover, artisanal miners may make use of some or all of our properties, which would interfere with exploration and
development activities on such properties.
Reliance on Information Technology Systems
Our operations are dependent upon information technology systems. These systems are subject to disruption, damage or
failure from a variety of sources. Failures in our information technology systems could translate into production downtimes,
operational delays, compromising of confidential information or destruction or corruption of data. Accordingly, any failure
in our information technology systems could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Information technology systems failures could also materially adversely affect the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting. An action has been carried out for several years to reduce the risk of data loss, but there is no guarantee
that this action will be fully effective.
Cybersecurity Threats
Our operations depend, in part, on how well we and our suppliers protect networks, technology systems and software
against damage from a number of threats, including viruses, security breaches and cyberattacks. Cybersecurity threats
include attempts to gain unauthorized access to data or to automated network systems and the manipulation or improper
use of information technology systems. The failure of any part of our information technology systems could, depending on
the nature of any such failure, materially adversely impact our reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
Although we have not to date experienced any material losses relating to cyberattacks or other information security
breaches, there can be no assurance that we will not incur such losses in the future. Our risk and exposure to these matters
cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats. As cyber threats continue to
evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to
investigate and remediate any system vulnerabilities.
Litigation
All industries, including the mining industry, are subject to legal claims with and without merit. We have in the past been,
currently are, and may in the future be involved in various legal proceedings. While we believe it is unlikely that the final
outcome of these legal proceedings will have an adverse material effect on our financial condition and results of operations,
defence costs will be incurred, even with respect to claims that have no merit. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the
litigation process, there can be no assurance that the resolution of any particular or several combined legal proceedings will
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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In October 2020, the Company was informed that a very small group of minority shareholders had filed an application for a
remedial order with the Québec Superior Court based on unsubstantiated allegations regarding, among other things,
executive remuneration and past financings. The Company, its directors, officers and the Cohen family are implicated.
ROBEX decided to vigorously challenge the claim and set the record straight under the applicable procedure. The Company
emphasizes that it follows securities regulations in a manner that is respectful of minority shareholders. Among other things,
any material items that should have been brought to the attention of shareholders were disclosed in a timely and complete
manner without any objection from shareholders. The Company considers this action frivolous and unfounded and will
demonstrate not only to the Court the unreasonable nature of this procedure, but also will consider taking further legal
actions to recoup in full the legal cost incurred to date.
Anti‐Corruption Laws
We operate in jurisdictions that have experienced governmental and private sector corruption to some degree. We are
required to comply with the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada), which has recently seen an increase in both
the frequency of enforcement and severity of penalties. Although we adopted a formal anti‐corruption policy and our Code
of Conduct mandates compliance with anti‐corruption laws, there can be no assurance that our internal control policies and
procedures will always protect us from recklessness, fraudulent behaviour, dishonesty or other inappropriate acts. Violation
or alleged violation of anti‐corruption laws could lead to civil and criminal fines and penalties, reputational damage and
other consequences that may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID‐19)
The health crisis we are facing worldwide is unprecedented and therefore its effects are largely unpredictable. This
pandemic will not spare any country. In West Africa, more than elsewhere, the local medical infrastructure is very fragile. In
the midst of an unprecedented crisis, governments are more likely to take unexpected or sudden and unavoidable decisions.
Besides the health issues affecting the workers of companies and their subcontractors, many local or global issues may arise,
in particular disruption of supplies, transport, exports and border shutdown. Companies may also be affected, or
neighbouring communities may be affected, resulting in production interruptions and social unrest.
The Company has set up regular monitoring of the situation in order to adjust the actions to be taken. The mine has put a
testing policy in place with Malian infectious disease experts.
At present, we are pleased to note that Mali is mostly spared from the health crisis, and the Nampala mine has had only
one case (without contagion), and the same seems to be true for neighbouring villages. But the multiplication of variants
prompts vigilance.
Social and Institutional Crisis in Mali
The military seized power in Mali by replacing the civilian institutions on August 18, 2020, which was followed by serious
disorder. The establishment of a military power initially resulted in international sanctions. On May 24 and 25, the
government was overthrown again, and the military took over the presidency. The event was almost violence‐free at the
beginning, but the civil actors involved in politics were somehow impatient and strikes started across the country. Moreover,
France withdraws its military participation in Mali, and there is a conflict with France relating to the presence of Russian
advisers including by a private military company. In general, the situation in Sub‐Sahara Africa continues to deteriorate
under pressure from terrorist groups. The situation is tense, so the company is very vigilant. These tensions seem to have
reduced the aid that Mali was receiving; they are disrupting the economic activities and the country is therefore in need of
money more than ever. ECOWAS has imposed sanctions that appear to target only the leaders of the country. The situation
in the country can be felt on the site as people are gradually reducing their respect for authority. For some time now, there
has been an upsurge in the activities of armed groups in the country.
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Tax Risks
Robex conducts business in several jurisdictions and is subject to the taxation laws of these jurisdictions. These taxation
laws are complex, subject to varying interpretations and applications by the relevant tax authorities and subject to changes
and revisions in the ordinary course of operations. Robex may be challenged by the tax authorities in the countries in which
Robex operates, with results that may negatively affect its earnings. Furthermore, changes in taxation law or reviews and
assessments could result in higher taxes payable by Robex, which could adversely affect profitability and cash flow. Although
the Corporation has tax stability agreements with the Malian Government, there is no certainty that such agreements will
be upheld or not withdrawn in the future. The Company's interpretations of the stability agreement and the tax laws may
not be the same as those of the regulatory authorities. Consequently, challenges to the Company’s interpretations of the
stability agreement and the tax laws by regulatory authorities, in addition to changes to the tax laws, could result in
significant additional taxes, penalties and interest. The Company is subject to routine tax audits by various tax authorities.
Tax audits may result in additional tax, interest and penalties, which would negatively affect the Company’s financial
condition and operating results. Changes in tax rules and regulations or in the interpretation of tax rules and regulations by
the courts or the tax authorities may also have a substantial negative impact on the Company’s business.

8. SHARE CAPITAL
As of May 2, 2022, our share capital consisted of 599,878,403 common shares issued and outstanding.
Also, 6,281,163 stock options were granted at an exercise price of $0.09, $0.115, and $0.13, expiring respectively on
July 16, 2022, September 23, 2023, and November 28, 2024. Each option entitles the holder to acquire one common share
of the Company.
Shareholding of the Company
Current position

Stock options1
Exercise effects
Total Shares
Outstanding

% After
Exercise

Shares Outstanding

%

Issued Shares

Cohen Group*

394,293,027

65.73%

‐‐‐

394,293,027

65.05%

Other Shareholders

205,585,376

34.27%

6,281,163

211,866,539

34.95%

Total

599,878,403

100%

6,281,163

606,159,566

100%

* Members of Cohen Group are Georges Cohen, Julien Cohen, Benjamin Cohen, Johan Contat Cohen, Émilie Cohen and
Laetitia Cohen.
On April 20, 2022, the Company closed an SPA in which the Company will issue common share for the acquisition of
Sycamore2.

1
2

Exercising these options would increase the Company's cash flow by $769,051
Refer to the press release for further details on this transaction
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9. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
A. DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We maintain appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and
disclosed externally is complete, accurate, reliable and timely. The disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the annual filings, interim filings or
other reports filed under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified by said legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that material information required to
be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management, including its certifying officers, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our President, our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and our Chief Financial Officer (CFO) have evaluated, or caused the
evaluation of, under their direct supervision, the design and operating effectiveness of our DC&P and have concluded as of
December 31, 2021 that such DC&P were designed and operating effectively.

B. INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
Management has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of its ICFR. This evaluation was performed by the
President, the CEO and the CFO with the assistance of other management and staff to the extent deemed necessary.
Based on this evaluation, the president, the CEO and the CFO and the concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, the ICFR
were appropriately designed, effective and able to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.

C. LIMITATIONS OF CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
In spite of its evaluation, our management, including the CEO and CFO, believes that any controls and procedures no matter
how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance in achieving the desired
control objectives. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.
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NON‐IFRS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Some of the indicators used by us to analyse and evaluate our results represent non‐IFRS financial measures. These
measures are presented as they can provide useful information to assist investors with their evaluation of the Corporation's
performance and ability to generate cash flow from its operations. Since the non‐IFRS performance measures presented in
the below sections do not have any standardized definition prescribed by IFRS, they may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other companies. Accordingly, they are intended to provide additional information and should not
be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. For the non‐
IFRS financial performance measures not already reconciled within the document, we have defined the IFRS financial
performance measures below and reconciled them to reported IFRS measures.
Cash Operating Cost and Cash Operating Cost including Stripping
The tables below present reconciliation between the cash operating cost calculated in accordance with the Gold Institute1
standards and operating expenses, for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020:
2021

2020

1,948,284

1,886,318

Mining operation expenses (relating to ounces sold)

37,839,905

34,465,494

Mining royalties

(3,207,100)

(2,915,269)

(44,901)

1,453,919

34,587,904

33,004,144

18

17

2021

2020

1,948,284

1,886,318

21,937,381

16,414,575

Stripping cost (per tonne processed)

11

9

Cash operating cost (per tonne processed)

18

17

Cash operating cost including stripping (per tonne processed)

29

26

Per tonne processed
Tonnes of ore processed
(in dollars)

Effects of inventory adjustments (doré bars, gold in circuit and ore stockpiles)
Operating costs (relating to tonnes processed)
Cash operating cost (per tonne processed)

Per tonne processed
Tonnes of ore processed
(in dollars)

Stripping cost

The Gold Institute, which ceased operations in 2002, was a non‐regulated organization representing a global group of gold producers. The cost standard
of production developed by the Gold Institute remains the generally accepted standard for the recording of costs disbursed by gold mining companies.
1
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Total Cash Cost
A reconciliation of total cash cost is included in the following table, for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020:

Per ounce sold
Gold ounces sold

2021

2020

46,002

50,963

37,839,905

34,465,494

823

676

(in dollars)

Mining operation expenses
Total cash cost (per ounce sold)

All‐in Sustaining Cost and Ajusted All‐in Sustaining Cost
All‐in sustaining cost represents the total cash cost plus sustainable capital expenditures and stripping costs presented per
ounce sold. The Company classified sustaining capital expenditures which are required to maintain existing operations and
capitalized stripping. A reconciliation of all‐in sustaining cost and adjusted all‐in sustaining cost are included in the following
tables, for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020:
2021

2020

46,002

50,963

31,213,982

30,596,468

Sustaining capital expenditures (per ounce sold)

679

600

Total cash cost (per ounce sold)

823

676

1,502

1,277

2021

2020

46,002

50,963

31,213,982

30,596,468

(21,937,381)

(16,414,575)

(3,146,804)

(8,003,430)

6,129,797

6,178,463

Adjusted sustaining capital expenditures (per ounce sold)

133

121

Total cash cost (per ounce sold)

823

676

Adjusted all‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)

956

797

Gold ounces sold
(in dollars)

Sustaining capital expenditures

All‐in sustaining cost (per ounce sold)

Gold ounces sold
(in dollars)

Sustaining capital expenditures
Stripping cost
Exploration expenses
Adjusted sustaining capital expenditures

PAGE 43
ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

PA G E 4 3

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S ♦ YEAR 2021

[M A N A G E M E N T ‘ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A L Y S I S]

YEAR 2021

Operating Cash Flows per Share
The Company uses cash flows from operating activities, before changes in non‐cash working capital, to supplement its
consolidated financial statements, and calculates it by not including the period‐to‐period movement of non‐cash working
capital items, like accounts receivable, inventories, prepaid expenses, deposits paid and accounts payable.
A reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities, before changes in non‐cash working capital, per share is included in
the following table, for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020:
2021
Cash flows from operating activities (in dollars)
Weighted average number of outstanding common shares ‐ basic

2020

33,768,201

65,090,056

599,737,408

588,946,537

0.056

0.111

Operating cash flows per share (in dollars)

Adjusted Accounting Measures
Net income and operating income have been adjusted with items considered temporal and that do not reflect the
Company’s core mining operations. Reconciliations of adjusted accounting measures is included in the following tables, for
the years ended December 31, 2021, and 2020:

2021

2020

15,892,676

44,609,088

‐‐‐

573,791

(507,875)

(193,820)

5,951

57,341

14,276,807

‐‐‐

(in dollars)

Net income attributable to equity shareholders as per IFRS
Stock‐based compensation expense
Foreign exchange gain
Write‐off of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Tax provision for adjustments to prior years
Adjusted net income attributable to equity shareholders
Weighted average number of outstanding shares

29,667,559

45,046,400

599,737,408

588,946,537

0.049

0.076

2021

2020

37,093,707

48,529,127

‐‐‐

573,791

37,093,707

49,102,918

Adjusted basic earnings per share (in dollars)

(en dollars)

Operating income as per IFRS
Stock‐based compensation expense
Adjusted operating income

11.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

This MD&A has been prepared as of May 2, 2022. We present additional information on our company through regular filings
of press releases, financial statements and our Annual Information Form on SEDAR (sedar.com). These documents and other
sources of information about the Company may also be found on our website at robexgold.com.
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FOWARD‐LOOKING STATEMENTS

This MD&A contains forward‐looking statements. Forward‐looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and assumptions and, accordingly, actual results and future events could differ materially from those
expressed or implied in such statements. You are hence cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward‐looking
statements. These forward‐looking statements include statements regarding our expectations as to the market price of gold,
production targets, timetables, mining operation expenses, capital expenditures and mineral reserve and resource
estimates. Forward‐looking statements include words or expressions such as “pursuing”, “growth”, “opportunities”,
"anticipated", “outlook”, “strategy”, “will”, "estimated", “expected”, "in order to", "should", "target", "objective", "intend",
and other similar words or expressions. Factors that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from
expectations expressed or implied by the forward‐looking statements include, among others, the ability to achieve our
objective of producing at least 50,000 ounces of gold at the Nampala mine in 2022 at an all‐in sustaining cost per ounce sold
(or AISC) of less than $1,500, the ability to maintain a level of administrative burdens similar to that of the year 2021, the
ability to achieve our strategic focus, fluctuations in the price of gold, currencies and operating costs, risks related to the
mining industry, uncertainty as to calculation of mineral reserves and resources, delays, political and social stability in Africa
(including our ability to maintain or renew licenses and permits), and other risks described in ROBEX’s documents filed with
Canadian securities regulatory authorities. ROBEX disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward‐looking
statements, unless required to do so by law.
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Robex Resources Inc.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Robex Resources Inc. and its subsidiaries (together, the Entity) as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
What we have audited
The Entity’s consolidated financial statements comprise:


the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;



the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020;



the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;



the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020;



the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020; and



the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP/s.r.l./s.e.n.c.r.l.
1250 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Suite 2500, Montréal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4Y1
T: +1 514 205 5000, F: +1 514 876 1502
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP/s.r.l./s.e.n.c.r.l., an Ontario limited liability partnership.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a
going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Entity to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and, where applicable, related
safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Maxime Guilbault.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP1
Montréal, Quebec
May 2, 2021

1

CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A128042

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
CONSOLIDATED
OF
INCOME
(all
amounts are in CanadianSTATEMENTS
dollars unless otherwise
indicated)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES

Third quarters
ended September 30,
Third quarters
ended September 30,
2021
2020
$
$
2021
2020
16,672,256$
45,864,340$

Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
2021
2020
$
$
2021
2020
103,892,699$
120,830,189$

REVENUE
GOLD SALES
16,672,256
COSTS OF ‐OPERATIONS
Mining operation expenses ‐ note 7
5,804,281
COSTS
OF OPERATIONS
Administrative
expenses ‐ note 8
3,963,400
Mining
operation
expenses
‐
note
7
5,804,281
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets
Administrative
expenses ‐ note
8 ‐ note 18 b)
3,963,400
Stock‐based compensation
expense
‐‐‐
Depreciation
of
property,
plant
and
equipment
and
amortization
of
intangible
assets
OPERATING INCOME
3,997,555
Stock‐based compensation expense ‐ note 18 b)
‐‐‐

45,864,340

103,892,699

12,278,716
5,160,633
12,278,716
3,504,453
5,160,633
‐‐‐
3,504,453
24,920,538

37,839,905
17,442,857
37,839,905
11,516,230
17,442,857
‐‐‐
11,516,230
37,093,707

OPERATING
INCOME
OTHER EXPENSES
(INCOME)
Financial expenses ‐ note 9
OTHER
EXPENSES
(INCOME)
Foreign
exchange
gain
Financial
expenses
‐ note
9 and equipment and intangible assets
Write‐off of property,
plant
Foreign
exchange gain
Other income
Write‐off
of property,
plant
equipment and intangible assets
INCOME BEFORE
INCOME
TAXand
EXPENSE
Other income
Income tax expense ‐ note 21
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Income tax expense ‐ note 21

24,920,538

37,093,707

3,997,555

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

20
120,830,189 55
34,465,494 20
16,348,407 55
34,465,494
20,913,370
16,348,407
573,791
20,913,370
48,529,127
573,791

24,694,377
(16,735)
797,807
24,694,377
23,896,570
797,807

938,960
(507,875)
938,960
5,951
(507,875)
(122,407)
5,951
36,779,078
(122,407)
20,658,446
36,779,078
16,120,632
20,658,446

#
#
1,145,749 #
(193,820) #
1,145,749
57,341
(193,820)
(62,490)
57,341 #
47,582,347
(62,490)
2,556,305
47,582,347 #
45,026,042
2,556,305

251,946
(134,813)
251,946
(134,813)
(16,920)

346,736
(103,840)
346,736
(103,840)
(16,735)

3,897,342
(16,920)
(52,892)
3,897,342
3,950,234
(52,892)

48,529,127

NET INCOME FOR
ATTRIBUTABLE
TOTHE YEAR
Common shareholders
ATTRIBUTABLE
TOinterest
Non‐controlling
Common shareholders
Non‐controlling interest

3,950,234

23,896,570

16,120,632

45,026,042

4,127,188
(176,954)
4,127,188
3,950,234
(176,954)

23,195,182
701,388
23,195,182
23,896,570
701,388

15,892,676
227,956
15,892,676
16,120,632
227,956

44,609,088
416,954
44,609,088
45,026,042
416,954

EARNINGS PER SHARE ‐ note 22

3,950,234

23,896,570

16,120,632

45,026,042

Basic
EARNINGS
Diluted PER SHARE ‐ note 22
Basic
Diluted

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.076

0.007
0.007

0.039
0.039

0.026
0.026

0.074
0.076

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.074

#
#

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
CONSOLIDATED
OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(all
amounts are in CanadianSTATEMENTS
dollars unless otherwise
indicated)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES

Third quarters
ended September 30,

2021
$
2021
16,672,256$

2020
$
2020
45,864,340$

Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
2021
2020
$
$
2021
2020
103,892,699$
120,830,189$

NET
INCOME
FOR THE YEAR
3,950,234
COSTS
OF OPERATIONS
Mining operation expenses ‐ note 7
5,804,281
Other
comprehensive
income
(loss)
Administrative
expenses
‐ note
8
3,963,400
Item
that
may
be
reclassified
subsequently
to
net
income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets
Exchange difference
(3197,164)
Stock‐based
compensation expense ‐ note 18 b)
‐‐‐

23,896,570

16,120,632

12,278,716
5,160,633
3,504,453
1,896,387
‐‐‐

37,839,905
17,442,857
11,516,230
(8,772,942)
‐‐‐

20
45,026,042 55
34,465,494
16,348,407
20,913,370
5,829,920
573,791

COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
OPERATING INCOME

25,792,957
24,920,538

7,347,690
37,093,707

50,855,962
48,529,127

OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
TO
Financial expenses
‐ note ATTRIBUTABLE
9
Common
shareholders
Foreign exchange
gain
Non‐controlling
interest
Write‐off of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
Other income
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense ‐ note 21

,753,070
3,997,555

#
#
251,946
,555,535
(134,813)
197,535

346,736
25,057,441
(103,840)
735,516

938,960
7,195,017
(507,875)
152,673
5,951

(16,920)
,753,070
3,897,342

(16,735)
25,792,957
24,694,377

(122,407)
7,347,690
36,779,078

(52,892)

1,145,749
50,407,529
(193,820)
448,433
57,341
(62,490)
50,855,962
47,582,347 #

797,807

20,658,446

2,556,305

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

3,950,234

23,896,570

16,120,632

45,026,042

ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Common shareholders
Non‐controlling interest

4,127,188
(176,954)

23,195,182
701,388

15,892,676
227,956

44,609,088
416,954

3,950,234

23,896,570

16,120,632

45,026,042

EARNINGS PER SHARE ‐ note 22
Basic

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.076

Diluted

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.074

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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#

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS
OF31
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Third quarters
ended September 30,

(all amounts
in Canadian31,
dollars
unless
Years
endedare
December
2021
andotherwise
2020 indicated)

Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,

(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2021
$

Share capital

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES

Reserve ‐
stock options

Retained Accumulated other
earnings
16,672,256 comprehensive
45,864,340
(deficit)
income ‐ note 19

COSTS OF OPERATIONS
66,850,704
4,185,214
(859,288)
Mining operation expenses ‐ note 7
5,804,281
Net Administrative
income for the year
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
44,609,088
expenses ‐ note 8
3,963,400
Other
comprehensive
‐‐‐ of intangible assets
‐‐‐
Depreciation
ofincome
property, plant and equipment‐‐‐and amortization
Stock‐based
compensation
expense
‐
note
18
b)
Comprehensive income for the year
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
44,609,088 ‐‐‐

Balance as at December 31, 2019

Dividend
‐ note 18
c)
OPERATING
INCOME
Stock options exercised
during the year ‐ note 18 a)

‐‐‐
4,418,698

‐‐‐
(1,677,419)

OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
Stock options charged to expense
Financial expenses ‐ note 9
during the year ‐ note 18 b)
‐‐‐
573,791
Foreign exchange gain
Balance as at December 31, 2020
71,269,402
3,081,586
Write‐off of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Net Other
income income
for the year
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
Other
comprehensive
INCOME
BEFOREincome
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

Comprehensive income (loss) for the year

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

Dividend ‐ note 18 c)

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

Income tax expense ‐ note 21

NEToptions
INCOME
FOR THE YEAR
Stock
exercised
during the year ‐ note 18 a)
ATTRIBUTABLE
TO 31, 2021
Balance
as at December

(35,537,967)
3,997,555
‐‐‐

8,211,833

15,892,676
(16,920)
‐‐‐
3,897,342
15,892,676

(52,892)
‐‐‐

3,950,234

137,645

(53,975)

‐‐‐

71,407,047

3,027,611

24,104,509

Common shareholders
Non‐controlling interest

Total

71,955,124

5,798,441

‐‐‐ 50,407,529

2020
$
Total
equity

Non‐controlling
interest

103,892,699

1,778,494

120,830,189

20
55

724,344

72,679,468

12,278,716
37,839,905
34,465,494
‐‐‐
44,609,088
45,026,042
5,160,633
17,442,857 416,954
16,348,407
5,798,441
5,829,920
3,504,453 5,798,441
11,516,230 31,479
20,913,370
‐‐‐ 448,433 573,791
50,855,962

‐‐‐
(35,537,967)
(35,610,981)
24,920,538
37,093,707 (73,014)
48,529,127
‐‐‐

251,946
‐‐‐
(134,813)

2021
$

2020
$

Common shareholders

2,741,279

#
#

2,741,279

‐‐‐

938,960
1,145,749573,791
‐‐‐
(507,875)
(193,820)
7,576,935
90,139,756
1,099,763
91,239,519
5,951
57,341
‐‐‐
16,120,632
(16,735) 15,892,676(122,407) 227,956 (62,490)
346,736
‐‐‐
(103,840)

573,791

(75,283)
(8,772,942)
47,582,347
#

(8,697,659)
24,694,377 (8,697,659)
36,779,078

7,347,690
797,807 7,195,017
20,658,446 152,6732,556,305

(8,697,659)
‐‐‐

23,896,570
‐‐‐
(1,120,724)

‐‐‐

(23,614)

16,120,632

45,026,042

(23,614)

83,670

‐‐‐

83,670

97,418,443

1,228,822

98,647,265

4,127,188
(176,954)

23,195,182
701,388

15,892,676
227,956

44,609,088
416,954

3,950,234

23,896,570

16,120,632

45,026,042

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ‐ note 22
Basic

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.076

Diluted

0.007

0.039

0.026

0.074

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
CONSOLIDATED
OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
(all
amounts are in CanadianSTATEMENTS
dollars unless otherwise
indicated)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Third quarters
ended September 30,
2021
$

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES

16,672,256

ASSETS

CURRENT
COSTS
OF ASSETS
OPERATIONS
Cash operation expenses ‐ note 7
Mining
5,804,281
Inventories ‐ note
10
Administrative
expenses
‐ note 8
3,963,400
Accounts
receivable
‐ noteplant
11 and equipment and amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation
of property,
Prepaid
expenses
Stock‐based
compensation expense ‐ note 18 b)
‐‐‐
Deposits paid
OPERATING
INCOME
3,997,555
OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
VAT RECEIVABLE
Financial expenses ‐ note 9
MINING PROPERTIES ‐ note 12
Foreign exchange gain
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ‐ note 13
Write‐off of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other income
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE

LONG‐TERM DEBT ‐ note 15
ENVIRONMENTAL
LIABILITIES
‐ note 16
EARNINGS PER SHARE
‐ note 22
LEASE
BasicOBLIGATIONS ‐ note 17
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ‐ note 21
Diluted

12,278,716
5,160,633
3,504,453
‐‐‐
24,920,538

346,736
(103,840)

(16,920)

(16,735)

(52,892)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Lines of credit and overdraft ‐ note 15
Accounts payable ‐ note 14
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Current portion of long‐term debt ‐ note 15
Common shareholders
Current portion of lease obligations ‐ note 17
Non‐controlling interest

45,864,340

251,946
(134,813)

3,897,342

LIABILITIES
Income
tax expense ‐ note 21

2020
$

24,694,377
797,807

3,950,234

23,896,570

4,127,188
(176,954)

23,195,182
701,388

3,950,234

23,896,570

0.007

0.039

0.007

0.039

Nine‐month periods ended
As at SeptemberAs30,
at
As at

As at

September, 2021 December 31, 2020

2021
$
2021
103,892,699$

2020
$
2020
120,830,189$

20,721,807
37,839,905
13,638,323
17,442,857
11,516,230
4,222,161
742,304
‐‐‐
1,920,523
37,093,707

20
55
8,895,854 1
34,465,494
13,316,488
16,348,407
20,913,370
3,754,189 3
175,943
573,791
2,012,030
48,529,127

41,245,118

28,154,504

1,453,141
938,960
9,305,349
(507,875)
90,605,261
5,951
58,849
(122,407)
142,667,718
36,779,078
20,658,446

#
#

3,346,714
1,145,749
7,935,245
(193,820)
77,259,852 41
57,341
77,882
(62,490)
116,774,197
47,582,347 #
2,556,305

16,120,632
6,659,600
24,325,955
4,389,574
15,892,676
79,150
227,956
35,454,279
16,120,632
305,032
378,385
7,213
0.026
7,875,544
0.026
44,020,453

45,026,042
1,086,599
13,765,622
4,288,403 51
44,609,088 #
202,056
416,954
19,342,680
45,026,042
2,211,700
423,702
99,495
0.076
3,457,101
0.074
25,534,678

71,407,047
3,027,611
24,104,509
(1,120,724)

71,269,402
3,081,586
8,211,833
7,576,935

97,418,443

90,139,756 61

1,228,822

1,099,763 62

EQUITY
Share capital ‐ note 18 a)
Reserve ‐ stock options ‐ note 18 b)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income ‐ note 19
Non‐controlling interest

98,647,265

91,239,519

142,667,718

116,774,197

Contingencies and commitments (note 24)
Subsequent event (note 27)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
CONSOLIDATED
OF
CASH FLOWS
(all
amounts are in CanadianSTATEMENTS
dollars unless otherwise
indicated)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES
CASH FLOWS FROM THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

Third quarters
ended September 30,
2021
$
2021
$
16,672,256

Operating
COSTS
OF OPERATIONS
Net income
for the
year ‐ note 7
3,950,234
Mining
operation
expenses
5,804,281
Adjustments expenses
for
Administrative
‐ note 8
3,963,400
Financial of
expenses
Depreciation
property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible 251,946
assets
2,907,020
Depreciation
of property,
plant and
equipment
and amortization
Stock‐based
compensation
expense
‐ note
18 b)
‐‐‐
Deferred
income tax expense
OPERATING
INCOME
Write‐off of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
compensation expense
OTHERStock‐based
EXPENSES (INCOME)
Net changes
in ‐non‐cash
Financial
expenses
note 9 working capital items ‐ note 20
Variation
in
VAT
receivable
Foreign exchange gain
Paid interest
‐ note 20
Write‐off
of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets

Other income
Investing
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Variation in deposits paid
Income tax expense ‐ note 21
Acquisition of mining properties
NET Acquisition
INCOME FOR
THE YEARplant and equipment
of property,
Acquisition of intangible assets
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Common shareholders
Financing
Non‐controlling
interest
Long‐term debt
contracted
Repayment of long‐term debt
Variation in lines of credit
Payments
lease obligations
EARNINGS
PERofSHARE
‐ note 22
Issue
of
common
shares
Basic
Dividends paid
Diluted
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(164,381)
3,997,555
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
251,946
1,942,934
(134,813)
(474,569)

0
2020
$
2020
$
45,864,340

23,896,570
12,278,716
5,160,633
346,736
3,504,453
3,504,453
‐‐‐
635,912
24,920,538
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
3,910,316
346,736
‐‐‐
(103,840)
(325,572)

Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
Nine‐month periods ended
September 30,
2021
2020
$
$
2021
2020
$
$
103,892,699
120,830,189
20
55

16,120,632
37,839,905
17,442,857
938,960
11,516,230
11,516,230
‐‐‐

45,026,042
34,465,494
16,348,407
1,145,749
20,913,370
20,913,370
573,791

43,923,248
(122,407)

63,465,520
(62,490)

4,658,751
37,093,707
5,951
‐‐‐
10,155,047
938,960
1,365,503
(507,875)
(837,826)
5,951

1,788,301
48,529,127
57,341 #
573,791 #
(1,624,536)
1,145,749
(3,346,714)
(193,820)
(1,067,824)
57,341

8,413,184
(16,920)

31,968,415
(16,735)

3,897,342
(234,732)
(52,892)
(383,712)
3,950,234
(13,198,557)
‐‐‐

24,694,377
(401,188)
797,807
(190,035)
23,896,570
(6,767,429)
‐‐‐

36,779,078
334,055
20,658,446
(2,005,403)
16,120,632
(33,199,518)
(3,700)

47,582,347 #
(1,109,028)
2,556,305
(282,319)
45,026,042
(28,789,875)
(14,773)

(13,817,001)
4,127,188
(176,954)
1,096,946

(7,358,652)
23,195,182
701,388
‐‐‐

(34,874,566)
15,892,676
227,956
4,079,841

(30,195,995)
44,609,088 #
416,954
‐‐‐

(3,180,564)
3,950,234
5,750,899
(68,131)
‐‐‐
0.007
(,8,623)
0.007

(1,822,836)
23,896,570
‐‐‐
(89,549)
1,572,779
0.039
(23,940,078)
0.039

(5,452,097)
16,120,632
5,622,118
(145,910)
83,670
0.026
(8,623)
0.026

3590,527

(24,279,684)

(7,732,748)
45,026,042
1,110,942
(315,429)
2,741,279
0.076
(35,545,366)
0.074

4,178,999

(39,741,322)

(349,721)

48,023

(1,401,728)

1,768,651

Increase (decrease) in cash

(2,163,011)

378,102

11,825,953

(4,703,146)

Cash at the beginning of the year

10,153,615

9,029,954

8,895,854

13,599,000

Cash at the end of the year

7,990,604

9,408,056

20,721,807

8,895,854

Tax paid

6709,608

507,689

7,400,802

1,468,607

Additional information (note 20)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Robex Resources Inc. (the "Company") is a junior Canadian operations and exploration mining company. The Company has entered into
commercial operation on its Nampala deposit, located on the Mininko permit, on January 1, 2017. In addition to its operational mining
activities, the Company holds five exploration permits, all located in Mali, West Africa. The head office's address is 437 Grande Allée Est,
Québec (Quebec), G1R 2J5, Canada.

2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and were approved by the Board of Directors for
issue on May 2, 2022.

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, except for
financial instruments classified at fair value.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries and those of African Peak Trading
House Limited, in which the Company has made a significant investment and all of whose earnings are redistributed to the Company in
the form of preferred dividends. The Company's subsidiaries are Robex N'Gary SA, in which the Company holds an 85% interest, Robex
Resources Mali SARL, which is wholly owned, and Nampala SA, in which the Company holds a 90% interest. These three subsidiaries are all
located in Mali. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
The non‐controlling interest in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries is presented within equity but separate from the Company's
equity. The non‐controlling interest consists of the non‐controlling interest at the date of the original business combination plus the non‐
controlling interest share of recognized changes in equity since the date of acquisition.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the shareholders of the Company and to the non‐controlling interest even if
this results in the non‐controlling interest having a deficit balance.
Functional and presentation currency
The Canadian dollar is the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. The euro and the CFA franc are the functional
currencies of the Company.
These consolidated financial statements are translated into the presentation currency as follows: assets and liabilities are translated into
Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. The foreign currency
translation adjustment arising from such translation is included in accumulated other comprehensive income under equity. Income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction.
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NOTES TO
TO CONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATEDFINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTS
NOTES
Years ended
ended December
December31,
31,2021
2021and
and2020
2020
Years
(all amounts
amountsare
areininCanadian
Canadiandollars
dollarsunless
unlessotherwise
otherwise
indicated)
(all
indicated)

3 -- SIGNIFICANT
SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING
ACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
POLICIES- (continued)
- (continued)
Foreign
Foreigncurrency
currencytransaction
transactiontranslation
translation
Transactions
the
functional
currency
areare
translated
intointo
thethe
relevant
functional
currency
as follows:
Transactionsdenominated
denominatedinincurrencies
currenciesother
otherthan
than
the
functional
currency
translated
relevant
functional
currency
as follows:
monetary
assets
and
liabilities
are
translated
at
the
exchange
rate
in
effect
on
the
date
of
the
consolidated
statement
of
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the consolidated statementfinancial
of financial
position,
the
exchange
rate
in effect
on on
thethe
date
of the
transaction.
Non‐monetary
assets
and and
position,and
andincome
incomeand
andexpenses
expensesare
aretranslated
translatedatat
the
exchange
rate
in effect
date
of the
transaction.
Non‐monetary
assets
liabilities
measured
at
historical
cost
and
denominated
in
a
foreign
currency
are
translated
using
the
exchange
rate
at
the
date
of
liabilities measured at historical cost and denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the datethe
of the
transaction;
fairfair
value
andand
denominated
in ainforeign
currency
are are
translated
usingusing
the the
transaction; and
andnon‐monetary
non‐monetaryitems
itemsthat
thatare
aremeasured
measuredat at
value
denominated
a foreign
currency
translated
exchange
Foreign
exchange
gains
andand
losses
arising
fromfrom
suchsuch
translation
are are
exchange rates
rates atatthe
thedate
datewhen
whenthe
thefair
fairvalue
valuewas
wasdetermined.
determined.
Foreign
exchange
gains
losses
arising
translation
recorded
in
profit
or
loss
under
"Foreign
exchange
loss
(gain)".
recorded in profit or loss under "Foreign exchange loss (gain)".
Financial instruments
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument.
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
and financial liabilities are measured based on their classification depending on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired and
and financial
liabilities are measured based on their classification depending on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired and
their
characteristics.
their characteristics.
The measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on one of the following classifications:
The measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on one of the following classifications:
(a) Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
(a) Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
Financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities at FVTPL are recognized at fair value at each consolidated statement of financial
Financialdate,
instruments
or liabilities
at FVTPL
recognizedstatement
at fair value
at eachinconsolidated
statement
financial
position
and any classified
change in as
theassets
fair value
is reflected
in theare
consolidated
of income
the period during
whichofthese
positiontake
date,place.
and any change in the fair value is reflected in the consolidated statement of income in the period during which these
changes
changes take place.
(b) Assets and liabilities at amortized cost
(b) Assets and liabilities at amortized cost
Financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value including transaction costs
and
are subsequently
consolidated
statement
of financial
position
at amortized
cost
using
the effective
interestcosts
Financial
instrumentsmeasured
classified at
aseach
assets
or liabilities
at amortized
cost are
initiallydate
recognized
at fair
value
including
transaction
rate
any change
in the cost
reflected
in the consolidated
statement
incomedate
in the
during
which
these
changes take
and method;
are subsequently
measured
at iseach
consolidated
statement of
financialof
position
atperiod
amortized
cost
using
the effective
interest
place.
rate method; any change in the cost is reflected in the consolidated statement of income in the period during which these changes take
place.
(c) Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI")

(c) Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI")
Financial instruments classified as assets or liabilities at FVTOCI are initially recognized at fair value including transaction costs and are
subsequently
measuredclassified
at each consolidated
statementatofFVTOCI
financial
position
at fair value;
change
in the transaction
fair value is costs
reflected
Financial instruments
as assets or liabilities
are
initiallydate
recognized
at fairany
value
including
and are
in
the
consolidated
statement
of
comprehensive
income
(loss)
with
no
reclassification
to
net
income
on
disposal
of
such
assets
and
subsequently measured at each consolidated statement of financial position date at fair value; any change in the fair value is reflected
liabilities.
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) with no reclassification to net income on disposal of such assets and

liabilities.
The Company's financial assets at amortized cost include cash, accounts receivable (except taxes receivable) and deposits paid. Financial
assets
at amortized
cost are
classified
as current
assets
if payment
is receivable
within (except
12 months.
Otherwise,
they
aredeposits
presented
as non‐
The Company's
financial
assets
at amortized
cost
include
cash, accounts
receivable
taxes
receivable)
and
paid.
Financial
current assets.
assets at amortized cost are classified as current assets if payment is receivable within 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented as non‐
current assets.
The Company's financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable, line of credit, lease obligations and long‐term debt.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented
The Company's financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable, line of credit, lease obligations and long‐term debt.
as non‐current liabilities.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. Otherwise, they are presented
as non‐current liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Financial instruments ‐ (continued)
Transaction costs
Transaction costs related to financial instruments that are not classified as assets or liabilities at FVTPL, are recognized as adjustments to
the cost of the financial instrument in the consolidated statement of financial position at the time of initial recognition. These will be
amortized until they are carried out or until they are exercised.
Inventories
The material extracted from the mining pits is classified as a sterile material corresponding to stripping costs and capitalized to property,
plant and equipment, or as ore stocks. Ore represents material that, at the time of extraction, is expected to be processed into a saleable
form and sold at a profit. Raw materials comprise ore in stockpiles, which are subsequently processed into gold in a saleable form. Work
in progress represents doré bars in the processing circuit that have not completed the production process, and are not yet in a saleable
form. Supplies represent commodity consumables and other raw materials used in the production process, as well as spare parts and
other maintenance supplies that are not classified as property, plant and equipment.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes all costs
incurred, based on a normal production capacity, in bringing each product to its present location and condition. Cost of inventories
includes direct labour, materials and subcontractor expenses and an allocation of mine site overhead costs. As ore is sent to the mill for
processing, costs are reclassified out of inventory based on the average cost per tonne of the stockpile.
The Company records provisions to reduce inventory to net realizable value to reflect changes in economic factors that impact inventory
value and to reflect present intentions for the use of slow‐moving and obsolete supplies inventory. Net realizable value is determined
with reference to relevant market prices less applicable variable selling expenses. Provisions recorded also reflect an estimate of the
remaining costs of completion to bring the inventory into its saleable form. Provisions are also recorded to reduce mine operating
supplies to net realizable value, which is generally calculated by reference to its salvage or scrap value when it is determined that the
supplies are obsolete. Provisions are reversed to reflect subsequent recoveries in net realizable value where the inventory is still on hand.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Mining properties
Expenditures incurred on activities that precede exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources, being all expenditures incurred prior
to securing the legal rights to explore an area, are expensed immediately.
Exploration expenditures include rights to mining properties, paid or acquired through an acquisition of assets, and costs related to the
initial search for mineral deposits with economic potential or to obtain more information about existing mineral deposits.
Mining rights are recorded at acquisition cost or at fair value in the case of an impairment loss caused by a loss in value. Mining rights and
options to acquire undivided interests in mining rights are depreciated only as these properties are put into production. These costs are
written off when properties are abandoned or when cost recovery or access to resources is uncertain. Proceeds from the sale of mining
properties are applied against the related carrying amount, and any excess or shortfall is recorded as a gain or loss in the consolidated
statement of income. In the case of partial sale, if the carrying amount exceeds the proceeds, only the losses are recorded.
Exploration expenditures also typically include costs associated with prospecting, sampling, trenching, drilling and other work involved in
searching for ore like topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies. Generally, expenditures relating to exploration
activities are capitalized when it is more likely than not that future economic benefits will be realized. The assessment of probability is
based on factors such as the level of exploration and the degree of management’s confidence in the ore body.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures reflect costs related to establishing the technical and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
resource identified through exploration or acquired through a business combination or asset acquisition. Exploration and evaluation
expenditures include the costs of:
‐ establishing the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core samples, trenching and sampling activities in an ore body that is
classified as either a mineral resource or a proven and probable reserve;
‐ determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and treatment processes;
‐ studies related to surveying, transportation and infrastructure requirements;
‐ permitting activities; and
‐ economic evaluations to determine whether the development of the mineralized material is commercially justified, including scoping,
prefeasibility and final feasibility studies.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalized if management determines that there is sufficient evidence to support the
probability of generating positive economic returns in the future. When a mine project moves into the development phase, exploration
and evaluation expenditures are capitalized to mine development costs. If an exploration and evaluation activity does not prove viable, all
irrecoverable costs with the project are written off. Exploration and evaluation expenditures include overhead expenses directly
attributable to the related activities.

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

Page 13P A G E 5 9

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Mining properties ‐ (continued)
Impairment loss
The recoverability of amounts shown as mining properties is dependent upon the discovery of recoverable reserves on the economic plan,
the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing to complete the development and future profitable production or proceeds from
the disposition. The amount appearing as mining interests does not necessarily represent the current or future value of the mining
interests.
Mining properties are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment test is performed when impairment indicators arise, which is typically when one
of these conditions occurs:
‐ The right to explore in the specific area expires or will expire in the near future and is not expected to be renewed;
‐ No exploration expense and subsequent evaluation in the specific area is planned or in the budget;
‐ No resource discovery is commercially viable and the Company has decided to cease exploration in the specific area; or
‐ Sufficient work has been done to indicate that the carrying amount of the expense recognized in the asset will not be fully recovered.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of a mining property exceeds its recoverable amount. For
the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount, mining properties are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows ("cash‐generating units" or "CGUs"). The recoverable amount of a mining property is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The value in use is determined based on the present value of the expected future cash flows of the
relevant asset or CGU. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.
The Company evaluates impairment losses at each reporting date for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such
consideration.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially and subsequently recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when replaced.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the period in which they are incurred.
The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its significant parts and
depreciates separately each such part. Residual values, method of depreciation and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and
adjusted if appropriate. In case of change in these estimates, they are accounted for prospectively.
Expenditures on major maintenance rebuilds or overhauls are capitalized when it is probable that the expenditure will extend the
productive capacity or useful life of an asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Property, plant and equipment ‐ (continued)
Property, plant and equipment ‐ (continued)
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of
Gains
andand
losses
disposals
of consolidated
property, plant
and equipment
are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of
the
asset
are on
included
in the
statement
of income.
the asset and are included in the consolidated statement of income.
Property acquisition costs, exploration costs and mining development costs
Property acquisition costs, exploration costs and mining development costs
Costs incurred relative to proven and probable developed and undeveloped reserves, and probable non‐reserve resources, if there is
Costs incurred
relative
to proven
and probable
developed
and
undeveloped
and resources
probable non‐reserve
resources,
if there is
sufficient
objective
evidence
to support
a conclusion
that it is
probable
that thereserves,
non‐reserve
will be produced
(the “probable
sufficient
objective
evidence
to
support
a
conclusion
that
it
is
probable
that
the
non‐reserve
resources
will
be
produced
(the
“probable
non‐reserve resources”), are included in the depreciable amount. Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount
of
non‐reserve
resources”),
are
included
in
the
depreciable
amount.
Depreciation
is
the
systematic
allocation
of
the
depreciable
amount
an asset over its useful life. The depreciable amount of the asset is its cost, or any other amount substituted for cost, less its residualof
an asset over its useful life. The depreciable amount of the asset is its cost, or any other amount substituted for cost, less its residual
value.
value.
Depreciation begins when a property is put into commercial operation and is calculated using the units of production method over the
Depreciation
beginslife
when
a property
is put
commercial
operation
andofisgold.
calculated
using
the units of
production
the
expected
operating
of the
mine based
on into
estimated
recoverable
ounces
Estimated
recoverable
ounces
of goldmethod
include over
proved
expected
operating
lifeand
of the
mine
based resources.
on estimated recoverable ounces of gold. Estimated recoverable ounces of gold include proved
and
probable
reserves
some
indicated
and probable reserves and some indicated resources.
Exploration costs incurred on a property in production are capitalized to property, plant and equipment and amortized based on
Explorationrecoverable
costs incurred
onofagold
property
in production
are capitalized to property, plant and equipment and amortized based on
estimated
ounces
in the resource
area concerned.
estimated recoverable ounces of gold in the resource area concerned.
Equipment related to mining operations
Equipment related to mining operations
Equipment related to mining operations is recorded at cost and depreciated, less residual value, using the units of production method
Equipment
relatedoperating
to mininglife
operations
is recorded
cost andrecoverable
depreciated,
less residual
using
units of production
over
the expected
of the mine
based on at
estimated
ounces
of gold. value,
However,
if the estimated
useful life method
of the
over the
lifemine,
of thedepreciation
mine based is
onbased
estimated
recoverable
ounces
gold.orHowever,
the estimated
useful over
life ofthe
the
assets
is expected
less than operating
that of the
on their
estimated
usefuloflife,
using theif straight‐line
method
assets is operating
less than life
thatofofthethe
mine, depreciation is based on their estimated useful life, or using the straight‐line method over the
mine.
expected
expected operating life of the mine.
Buildings and office development
Buildings and office development
Buildings and office development are recorded at cost and depreciated, less residual value, using the straight‐line method over the
expected
of the mineare
or using
the declining
balance
method at
of 20%.
However,
if the
expected useful
lifeover
of the
Buildings operating
and officelife
development
recorded
at cost and
depreciated,
lessrates
residual
value,
using the
straight‐line
method
the
depreciation
is based
on their
expected
useful
life. of 20%. However, if the expected useful life of the
assets
is less
than that
thethe
mine,
expected
operating
lifeofof
mine
or using the
declining
balance
method
at rates
assets is less than that of the mine, depreciation is based on their expected useful life.
Assets under construction
Assets under construction
Assets under construction include property, plant and equipment under construction, including those intended for their own use. The cost
includes
the purchase
price,
as well
as any plant
cost directly
attributable
toconstruction,
bringing the including
asset intothose
working
condition
for its
intended
Assets under
construction
include
property,
and equipment
under
intended
for their
own
use. Theuse.
cost
Assets
under
construction
are as
classified
thecost
appropriate
tangible assettocategory
the costs
incurred.
Assets for
under
construction
includes
the purchase
price,
well asinany
directly attributable
bringingwhen
the asset
into are
working
condition
its intended
use.
are
recognized
at cost, lessare
anyclassified
recognized
impairment
loss,tangible
and are asset
not depreciated.
Their
begins only
when
theyconstruction
are ready
Assets
under construction
in the
appropriate
category when
thedepreciation
costs are incurred.
Assets
under
for
intended
aretheir
recognized
at use.
cost, less any recognized impairment loss, and are not depreciated. Their depreciation begins only when they are ready
for their intended use.
Tools, equipment and vehicles
Tools, equipment and vehicles
Tools, equipment and vehicles include communications equipment and computer equipment and are recorded at cost. Depreciation is
calculated
using theand
declining
balance
method
at rates of 20%
or 30%, and
and computer
is recognized
in the consolidated
statement
income.
Tools, equipment
vehicles
include
communications
equipment
equipment
and are recorded
at of
cost.
Depreciation is

calculated using the declining balance method at rates of 20% or 30%, and is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
Exploration equipment

Exploration equipment
Depreciation of exploration equipment is capitalized to mining properties according to the capitalization policy of mining properties.
Depreciation
plant
and equipment,
if related
to mineproperties
development
expenditures,
capitalized inpolicy
mineof
development
costs.
Depreciation of
of property,
exploration
equipment
is capitalized
to mining
according
to the is
capitalization
mining properties.
These
amounts
will
be
recognized
in
the
consolidated
statement
of
income
through
depreciation
of
property,
plant
and
equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if related to mine development expenditures, is capitalized in mine developmentwhen
costs.
they
put into
production
(or when
properties
are putofinto
production).
those which
are not related
to exploration
and
Theseare
amounts
will
be recognized
in themining
consolidated
statement
income
through For
depreciation
of property,
plant and
equipment when
development
activities,
depreciation
expense
is
recognized
directly
in
the
consolidated
statement
of
income.
Depreciation
is
calculated
they are put into production (or when mining properties are put into production). For those which are not related to exploration and
on
a declining activities,
balance basis
at an annual
rate ofis20%
or 30%. directly in the consolidated statement of income. Depreciation is calculated
development
depreciation
expense
recognized
on a declining balance basis at an annual rate of 20% or 30%.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Property, plant and equipment ‐ (continued)
Assets under construction
Assets under construction include property, plant and equipment under construction, including those intended for their own use. The cost
includes the purchase price, as well as any cost directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition for its intended use.
Assets under construction are classified in the appropriate tangible asset category when the costs are incurred. Assets under construction
are recognized at cost, less any recognized impairment loss, and are not depreciated. Their depreciation begins only when they are ready
for their intended use.
Stripping costs
In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to remove overburden and other sterile materials to access ore from which minerals can be
extracted economically. The process of mining overburden and other sterile materials is referred to as stripping. Stripping costs incurred
in order to provide initial access to the ore body are capitalized under mining development costs and are amortized when the ore to
which the costs are attached is extracted from the pit and the mine is considered operational. When these costs are directly attributable
to the development of a tangible asset category, they are recorded into it.
It may be also required to remove waste materials and to incur stripping costs during the production phase of the mine. The Company
recognizes a stripping activity asset if all of the below conditions are met:
(i) It is probable that the future economic benefit (improved access to the component of the ore body) associated with the stripping
activity will flow to the Company;
(ii) The Company can identify the component of the ore body for which access has been improved; and
(iii) The costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be measured reliably.
The Company measures the stripping activity at cost based on an accumulation of costs incurred to perform the stripping activity that
improves access to the identified component of ore.
After initial recognition, the stripping activity asset is carried at cost less depreciation and impairment losses in the same way as the
existing asset of which it is a part.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognized as financial expenses in the
consolidated statement of income in the period in which they are incurred.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially and subsequently recorded at cost and amortized on a declining balance basis at an annual rate of 30%.
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Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Impairment of non‐financial assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash‐generating units – "CGUs"). The recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGUs).
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such consideration.
Provision for asset retirement obligations
The Company records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to restore locations in the period
in which the obligation is incurred with a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related mining asset. For locations where
mining activities have ceased, changes to provisions are charged directly to the consolidated statement of income under financial
expenses. The obligation is generally considered to have been incurred when mining assets are constructed or the ground environment is
disturbed at the production location.
Provisions are measured at management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. The increase in the provisions due to passage of time is
recognized as financial expense. Changes in assumptions or estimates are reflected in the period in which they occur.
The discounted liability is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time, based on a risk‐free real discount rate that
reflects current market assessments, and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation.
Leases
The Company is a party to lease contracts for office space and vehicles.
Lease terms are negotiated on a case‐by‐case basis and include a wide range of terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants.
Leases are recognized as a right‐of‐use asset and a corresponding liability to the date when the leased asset is available for use by the
Company. Each lease payment is allocated between liability and financial expenses. Financial expenses are charged to net income over
term of the lease for a constant periodic interest rate on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right‐of‐use asset is
amortized over the lease term on a straight‐line basis.
Right‐of‐use assets
Right‐of‐use assets are initially measured at cost and include:
‐ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability
‐ lease payments made on or before the start date, less any lease incentives
‐ all initial costs incurred directly by the Company
‐ restoration costs.
After the start date, right‐of‐use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses
and are adjusted for any revaluation of the lease obligation.
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Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
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3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)
Leases ‐ (continued)
Lease obligations
Lease obligations are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that have not been paid as of that date. This includes:
‐ fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable
‐ variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate
‐ amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
‐ the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option
‐ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.
Lease payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate unless the implicit rate in the lease contract is readily
determinable, in which case the latter is used.
Exemptions
The Company elected to apply exemptions for leases with low underlying asset values, or for which the lease term does not exceed
12 months. Payments associated with such leases are recognized on a straight‐line basis as an expense in net income.
Non‐controlling interest
Non‐controlling interest consists of the interests in the equity of subsidiaries held by outside parties. The share of the net assets
attributable to the non‐controlling interest is presented within equity. Their share of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (loss)
is recognized directly in equity even if the non‐controlling interest has a deficit balance.
Income tax and deferred taxes
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, except if it concerns
items recognized directly in equity. In this case, the related tax is also recognized directly in equity.
The Company provides for deferred income taxes using the liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between financial statement values and tax values of assets and
liabilities, using enacted or substantively enacted income tax rates that are expected to be in effect for the years in which the assets are
expected to be recovered or the liabilities to be settled.
A deferred tax asset is only recognized in the event that it is probable that future taxable profits, against which the asset can be utilized,
will be available.
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3
3 -- SIGNIFICANT
SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTING
ACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
POLICIES- (continued)
- (continued)
Income
Incometax
taxand
anddeferred
deferredtaxes
taxes‐ (continued)
‐ (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as non‐current and are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as non‐current and are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when deferred tax assets and liabilities levied by the same taxation authority on either the
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when deferred tax assets and liabilities levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
Stock option plan
Stock option plan
The Company grants stock options to directors, members of management, employees and service providers. The Board of Directors offers
The Company grants stock options to directors, members of management, employees and service providers. The Board of Directors offers
such options for periods of up to ten years, with no vesting period, except for stock options granted to the financial advisor for whom the
such options for periods of up to ten years, with no vesting period, except for stock options granted to the financial advisor for whom the
options are exercisable for a period of twelve months at 25% per quarter, at prices determined by the Board of Directors.
options are exercisable for a period of twelve months at 25% per quarter, at prices determined by the Board of Directors.
The fair value of options is measured at the grant date using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model and is recognized over the period
The fair
valueemployees
of optionsacquire
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thefair
grant
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using the Black‐Scholes
pricing
model and
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overamount
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value
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as an expense option
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‐
stock
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The
amount
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of options that are expected to be acquired.
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of options that are expected to be acquired.
Revenue
Revenue
Revenue includes the sale of gold and by‐products (silver). The Company sells gold through a refiner. Sales are recognized when control of
Revenue
includes
sale of gold
and ultimate
by‐products
(silver).
Company
sellsis gold
refiner.
are recognized
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the
gold has
beenthe
transferred
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beingThe
when
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openSales
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Thus,
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areMarket
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price
euroin
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the time
ofgold
the sale.
London
Bullion
London Bullion Market price in euro at the time of the sale.
Earnings per share
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share for the period are calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year.
Basic earnings per share for the period are calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year.
Diluted earnings per share for the period are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year,
plusearnings
the effects
dilutive
potential
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year. The
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stock method
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the year.

Page 19

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

Page 19P A G E 6 5

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 - NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED DURING THE YEAR AND ISSUED BUT NOT YET IN EFFECT
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published, and their adoption is mandatory for future
accounting periods.
IAS 37 – Provisions, contigent liabilities and contingent asset
The amendments clarify the meaning of “costs to fulfil a contract”, and specify that, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is
established, an entity recognizes any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than on assets
dedicated to that contract. The amendment will be applied prospectively to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments or after the first reporting
period beginning on or after January 1, 2022. This change is currently being assessed by the Company.

PA G E 6 6

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

Page 20

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

5 - CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The determination of estimates requires the exercise of
judgement based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience and current and expected economic conditions.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management believes that there are no critical judgements that may result in material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. The Company also makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Company's recoverability of the recorded value of its property, plant and equipment (including mining properties and associated
deferred expenditures) is based on market conditions for metals, underlying mineral resources associated with the properties and future
costs that may be required for ultimate realization through mining operations or by sale.
Any change in the quality and quantity of recoverable ore reserves and mineral resources recoverable, expected selling prices and
operating costs could materially affect the estimated fair value of mining assets, which could result in material write‐downs or write‐offs
in the future.
Ore reserves and mineral resource estimates
Ore reserves and mineral resources are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from the
Company's mining properties. The Company estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by
appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and
suitable production techniques and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgements to interpret the data.
As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is produced during the operation of a mine,
estimates of reserves and the resources may change. Such changes may impact the Company's reported financial position and results,
which include:
(i) The carrying value of property, plant and equipment may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows;
(ii) Amortization charges in the consolidated statement of income may change where such charges are determined using the units of
production method, or where the useful life of the related assets change; and
(iii) Provisions for environmental restoration obligations may change ‐ where changes to the reserve estimates affect expectations about
when such activities and resources will occur and the associated cost of these activities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

5 - CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS - (continued)
Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment
A significant portion of property, plant and equipment is depreciated according to the method of production units. The calculation of the
units‐of‐production rate of amortization could be impacted to the extent that actual gold production in the future is different from
current forecast production based on proved and probable ore reserve and indicated resources. This would generally arise when there are
significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating ore reserve and mineral resources.
Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period during which the assets are expected to be
available for use. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for amortization of mining assets for any period as well as their net
recoverable value amounts are affected by these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are updated if
expectations change as a result of changes in the ore reserves and mineral resources, of physical wear and tear, technical or commercial
obsolescence and legal or other limits to use. It is possible that changes in these factors may cause significant changes in the estimated
useful lives of the Company's property, plant and equipment in the future, therefore affecting the amortization and net realizable value of
these assets.
Provision for environmental restoration obligations
The Company's mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.
The Company recognizes management's best estimate for decommissioning and restoration obligations in the period in which they are
incurred. Actual costs incurred in future periods could differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to environmental
laws and regulations, life of mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this provision. Such changes could
similarly impact the useful lives of assets depreciated on a straight‐line basis, where those lives are limited to the life of mine.
Income taxes and uncertain tax positions
The Corporation is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Corporation
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.
The estimates relating to the different tax assessments received from the Government of Mali involve a degree of estimation and
judgment with regard to certain items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until a resolution of an opposition process has
been reached with the relevant taxation authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process.
The inherent uncertainty regarding the outcome of these items means that eventual resolution could differ from the accounting estimates
and therefore impact the Corporation’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The financial impact of the estimate is
reported in note 24.
COVID‐19
A global pandemic related to COVID‐19 was declared by the World Health Organization in March 2020, resulting in adjustments to the
Company's operating procedures. To date, its operations have not been significantly impacted. The current and expected repercussions
on global commerce have been and will continue to be far‐reaching. To date, there has been significant volatility in commodity prices and
foreign exchange rates around the world. In addition, many restrictions have been implemented, including travel restrictions and supply
chain disruptions. As of the date of publication of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements, there is still a significant
ongoing global uncertainty surrounding COVID‐19 and the extent and duration of the impact it may have. Thereby, it is not possible to
reliably estimate either the length or the severity of these developments and their impact on the Company's financial results, financial
situation and cash flows.
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6 - SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company conducts its operating and exploration activities in Mali. The operational sectors presented reflect the Company's
management structure and how the Company's principal operational decision‐maker assesses business performance. The Company
evaluates the performance of its operating sectors primarily based on operating income (loss), as shown in the following tables.
Operating income for the Mining Operation (Gold) division is consolidated from the Company and all its subsidiaries involved in the value
chain from production to sale, be it at the point of production, or from refinery and administrative activities, and regardless of country or
currency.
Year ended Decembre 31, 2021
Mining
Operations
(Gold)
REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES

Mining
Exploration

Corporate
management

$
Total

103,892,699

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

103,892,699

34,632,805

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

34,632,805

3,207,100

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

3,207,100

Administrative expenses ‐ note 8

11,456,289

33,939

5,952,629

17,442,857

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortization of intangible assets

11,451,992

‐‐‐

64,238

11,516,230

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

43,144,513

Mining operation expenses ‐ note 7
Mining royalties ‐ note 7

Mining
Operations
(Gold)

(33,939)

Mining
Exploration

(6,016,867)

37,093,707

Year ended December 31, 2020
$
Corporate
Total
management

120,830,189

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

120,830,189

31,550,225

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

31,550,225

Mining royalties ‐ note 7

2,915,269

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

2,915,269

Administrative expenses ‐ note 8

8,808,597

10,779

7,529,031

16,348,407

20,849,429

‐‐‐

63,941

20,913,370

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

573,791

573,791

(8,166,763)

48,529,127

REVENUE ‐ GOLD SALES
Mining operation expenses ‐ note 7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortization of intangible assets
Stock‐based compensation expense ‐ note 18 b)
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

56,706,669

(10,779)

The Company's proceeds come from one client. The Company does not economically depend on a limited number of buyers for the sale of
gold, as gold can be sold through many commodity traders around the world.
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6 - SEGMENTED INFORMATION - (continued)
The Company's assets by segment are as follows:

Mining
Operations
(Gold)
Cash
Inventories
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Deposits paid
VAT receivable
Mining properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

3,200,665
13,638,323
4,164,700
273,776
1,839,861
1,453,141
‐‐‐
90,288,294
9,389

244,021
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
43,362
52,118
‐‐‐
9,305,349
242,586
49,460

17,277,121
‐‐‐
57,461
425,166
28,544
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
74,381
‐‐‐

20,721,807
13,638,323
4,222,161
742,304
1,920,523
1,453,141
9,305,349
90,605,261
58,849

114,868,149

9,936,896

17,862,673

142,667,718

Mining
Operations
(Gold)
Cash
Inventories
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Deposits paid
VAT receivable
Mining properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

PA G E 7 0

Mining
Exploration

As at December 31, 2021
$
Corporate
Total
management

Mining
Exploration

As at December 31, 2020
$
Corporate
Total
management

3,567,627
13,316,488
3,676,205
157,371
1,979,833
3,346,714
‐‐‐
77,033,029
14,546

70,737
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
3,615
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
7,935,245
94,944
63,336

5,257,490
‐‐‐
77,984
14,957
32,197
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
131,879
‐‐‐

8,895,854
13,316,488
3,754,189
175,943
2,012,030
3,346,714
7,935,245
77,259,852
77,882

103,091,813

8,167,877

5,514,507

116,774,197
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7 - MINING OPERATION EXPENSES

Operating and maintenance supplies and service
Fuel
Reagents
Employee benefit expenses
Inventory change
Less: Production expenses capitalized as stripping cost
Delivery costs
Total production costs
Mining royalties

8 - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Operations and explorations
Corporation management

2021
$

2020
$

2021
$

2020
$

7,211,177
3,564,531
1,360,266
1,021,450
(3,646,810)
(4,254,408)
136,614

7,425,089
2,834,040
1,222,562
1,486,364
2,493,164
(4,672,772)
405,386

31,536,300
14,025,782
5,065,618
5,054,785
44,901
(21,937,381)
842,800

25,650,438
11,689,016
5,273,288
5,793,822
(1,453,919)
(16,414,575)
1,012,155

5,392,820

11,193,833

34,632,805

31,550,225

411,461

1,084,883

3,207,100

2,915,269

5,804,281

12,278,716

37,839,905

34,465,494

2021
$

2020
$

2021
$

2020
$

3,307,653
655,747

2,099,500
3,061,133

11,490,228
5,952,629

8,819,376
7,529,031

3,963,400

5,160,633

17,442,857

16,348,407

Salary related amounts of $1,650,861 and $485,338, respectively, are included in the «Operations and explorations» item and in the
«Corporate management» item for the year ended December 31, 2021 ($1,918,603 and $391,588, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2020).

9 - FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest on long‐term debt
Effective interest on long‐term debt
Interest on lines of credit
Interest on lease obligations
Bank charges
Change in environmental liabilities

2021
$

2020
$

2021
$

2020
$

115,150
9,783
92,448
1,477
22,829
10,259

160,978
18,956
599
7,715
135,436
23,052

483,861
59,320
196,065
7,548
150,241
41,925

707,153
78,261
7,582
25,710
249,877
77,166

251,946

346,736

938,960

1,145,749

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

Page 25 P A G E 7 1

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10 - INVENTORIES

2021
$

Doré bars in production
Supplies and spare parts
Stacked ore

2020
$

3,976,552
9,249,760
412,011

4,648,288
8,437,106
231,094

13,638,323

13,316,488

As at September 30, As at December 31,

11 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2021
$

VAT receivable (1)
Other taxes receivable
Other receivables

2020
$

3,804,644
351,557
65,960

3,355,503
381,448
17,238

4,222,161

3,754,189

(1)

The amounts to be received as VAT do not bear any interest and are generally paid within 12 months. The receivable VAT to be
retrieved on a period longer than 12 months has been recorded in the non‐current assets. For the year ended on December 31, 2021, no
provision expense was recorded as receivable VAT (none on December 31, 2020). As at December 31, 2021, the Company did not have
any guarantee on the amounts to be received (none on December 31, 2020).
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12 - MINING PROPERTIES

Undivided interest

Mininko (A)

Sanoula (B)

Kamasso (C)

Diangounté (D)

100%

100%

100%

100%

Mining rights and titles

Total
$

Balance as at December 31, 2019
Exchange rate changes

137,423
9,657

224,842
15,803

22,372
1,572

47,920
3,368

432,557
30,400

Balance as at December 31, 2020
Acquisition costs
Exchange rate changes

147,080
‐‐‐
(11,468)

240,645
‐‐‐
(18,764)

23,944
13,459
(1,867)

51,288
25,799
(5,027)

462,957
39,258
(37,126)

Balance as at December 31, 2021

135,612

221,881

35,536

72,060

465,089

Balance as at December 31, 2019
Expenses incurred
Amortization
Exchange rate changes

4,651,388
155,715
8,860
331,506

1,233,932
58,377
3,541
88,916

770,860
39,068
2,655
56,276

22,645
40,391
4,311
3,847

6,678,825
293,551
19,367
480,545

Balance as at December 31, 2020
Expenses incurred
Amortization
Exchange rate changes

5,147,469
1,408,894
23,726
(459,630)

1,384,766
548,857
21,725
(121,636)

868,859
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(67,748)

71,194
19,888
‐‐‐
(6,104)

7,472,288
1,977,639
45,451
(655,118)

Balance as at December 31, 2021

6,120,459

1,833,712

801,111

84,978

8,840,260

As at December 31, 2020

5,294,549

1,625,411

892,803

122,482

7,935,245

As at December 31, 2021

6,256,071

2,055,593

836,647

157,038

9,305,349

Exploration costs

Total:
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12 - MINING PROPERTIES - (continued)
(A) Since April 30, 2007, the Company has held 100% of the mining titles of these properties. The seller benefits from a 1% NSR (Net Smelter
Return) royalty on which the Company has a right of first refusal.
On March 21, 2012, the subsidiary Nampala SA, 90% owned by the Company, received its gold mining and mineral substances permit
regarding a portion of the Mininko property. This mining permit is valid for thirty years.
In addition, when it assigned the mining permit, the Malian government was awarded 10% of Nampala SA's shares for free. The Malian
government could decide to acquire an additional 10% for a fee, which has not been done at the date of these consolidated financial
statements.
On September 17, 2019, its wholly owned subsidiary Robex Resources Mali SARL was granted again this research and exploration permit.
The permit is valid for three years, renewable twice for two years. The permit expires on September 16, 2026.
The Company is subject to certain minimal requirements in terms of exploration work to be carried out over the period of validity of the
permit.
(B) Since May 30, 2008, the Company has held 100% of its mining titles through its wholly owned subsidiary, Robex Resources Mali SARL. The
seller will receive NSR royalties of 2% on which the Company will have a right of first refusal.
This research and exploration permit was granted again on August 28, 2019. The permit is valid for three years, renewable twice for two
years. The permit expires on August 27, 2026.
The Company is subject to certain minimal requirements in terms of exploration work to be carried out over the period of validity of the
permit.
(C) The Company holds the permit through its wholly owned subsidiary, Robex Resources Mali SARL. This research and exploration permit
was granted on September 19, 2017. The permit is valid for three years, renewable twice for two years. The permit expires on
September 18, 2024.
The Company is subject to certain minimal requirements in terms of exploration work to be carried out over the period of validity of the
permit.
(D) The Company holds the permit through its wholly owned subsidiary, Robex Resources Mali SARL. This research and exploration permit
was granted on August 26, 2019. The permit is valid for 13 months, renewable twice for two years. The permit expires on
September 27, 2024.
The Company is subject to certain minimal requirements in terms of exploration work to be carried out over the period of validity of the
permit.
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Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

13 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
13 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs
Changes in right‐of‐use
Changes
right‐of‐use
assetsin‐ note
17
assets ‐ note 17
Write‐offs
Write‐offs
Exchange rate changes
Exchange rate changes
Balance as at December 31, 2020
Balance as at December 31, 2020
Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs
Changes in right‐of‐use
Changes
right‐of‐use
assetsin‐ note
17
assets ‐ note 17
Write‐offs
Write‐offs
Exchange rate changes
Exchange rate changes
Balance as at December 31, 2021
Balance as at December 31, 2021

Mining
Mining
development
development
costs
costs

Buildings
Buildings
and
office
and
office
development
development

Equipment
Equipment
related to
related
to
mining
mining
explorations
explorations

Tools,
Tools,
equipment
equipment
and vehicles
and vehicles

Exploration
Exploration
equipment
equipment

16,500,008
16,500,008
8,003,430
8,003,430
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
1,178,510
1,178,510
25,681,948
25,681,948
3,146,804
3,146,804
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(2,052,943)
(2,052,943)
26,775,809
26,775,809

8,922,809
8,922,809
3,479,443
3,479,443
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(52,885)
(52,885)
635,925
635,925
12,985,292
12,985,292
1,201,296
1,201,296
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(1,046,526)
(1,046,526)
13,140,062
13,140,062

91,853,888
91,853,888
17,532,117
17,532,117
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(34,155)
(34,155)
6,505,162
6,505,162
115,857,012
115,857,012
26,036,894
26,036,894
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(9,520,491)
(9,520,491)
132,373,415
132,373,415

2,845,123
2,845,123
1,566,706
1,566,706
(266,344)
(266,344)
(93,448)
(93,448)
202,708
202,708
4,254,745
4,254,745
1,042,396
1,042,396
(116,087)
(116,087)
(29,976)
(29,976)
(353,934)
(353,934)
4,797,144
4,797,144

712,293
712,293
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
50,064
50,064
762,357
762,357
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(59,444)
(59,444)
702,913
702,913

Total
Total
$
$
120,834,121
120,834,121
30,581,696
30,581,696
(266,344)
(266,344)
(180,488)
(180,488)
8,572,369
8,572,369
159,541,354
159,541,354
31,427,390
31,427,390
(116,087)
(116,087)
(29,976)
(29,976)
(13,033,338)
(13,033,338)
177,789,343
177,789,343

Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Balance as at December 31, 2019
Depreciation
Depreciation
Changes in right‐of‐use asset
Changes
right‐of‐use
asset
assets in
‐ note
17
assets ‐ note 17
Write‐offs
Write‐offs
Exchange rate changes
Exchange rate changes
Balance as at December 31, 2020
Balance as at December 31, 2020
Depreciation
Depreciation
Changes in right‐of‐use asset
Changes
right‐of‐use
asset
assets in
‐ note
17
assets ‐ note 17
Write‐offs
Write‐offs
Exchange rate changes
Exchange rate changes
Balance as at December 31, 2021
Balance as at December 31, 2021

5,964,468
5,964,468
2,851,198
2,851,198
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
426,480
426,480
9,242,146
9,242,146
1,580,081
1,580,081
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(729,724)
(729,724)
10,092,503
10,092,503

3,496,894
3,496,894
1,345,162
1,345,162
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(33,643)
(33,643)
253,438
253,438
5,061,851
5,061,851
1,093,106
1,093,106
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(415,334)
(415,334)
5,739,623
5,739,623

45,752,689
45,752,689
16,340,753
16,340,753
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(20,213)
(20,213)
3,337,813
3,337,813
65,411,042
65,411,042
8,189,453
8,189,453
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(5,271,709)
(5,271,709)
68,328,786
68,328,786

1,351,948
1,351,948
650,000
650,000
(162,216)
(162,216)
(70,349)
(70,349)
98,696
98,696
1,868,079
1,868,079
737,609
737,609
(58,044)
(58,044)
(24,025)
(24,025)
(157,338)
(157,338)
2,366,281
2,366,281

635,646
635,646
17,711
17,711
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
45,027
45,027
698,384
698,384
13,338
13,338
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
(54,833)
(54,833)
656,889
656,889

57,201,645
57,201,645
21,204,824
21,204,824
(162,216)
(162,216)
(124,205)
(124,205)
4,161,454
4,161,454
82,281,502
82,281,502
11,613,587
11,613,587
(58,044)
(58,044)
(24,025)
(24,025)
(6,628,938)
(6,628,938)
87,184,082
87,184,082

16,439,802
16,439,802
16,683,306
16,683,306

7,923,441
7,923,441
7,400,439
7,400,439

50,445,970
50,445,970
64,044,629
64,044,629

2,386,666
2,386,666
2,430,863
2,430,863

63,973
63,973
46,024
46,024

77,259,852
77,259,852
90,605,261
90,605,261

7,145,057
7,145,057

1,228,689
1,228,689

2,794,029
2,794,029

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

11,167,775
11,167,775

7,192,341
7,192,341

1,301,482
1,301,482

2,267,858
2,267,858

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

10,761,682
10,761,682

Net amounts:
Net amounts:
As at December 31, 2020
As at December 31, 2020
As at December 31, 2021
As at December 31, 2021
Not depreciated
Not depreciated
as at December 31, 2020 (1)
as at December 31, 2020 (1)
Not depreciated
Not depreciated
as at December 31, 2021 (1)
as at December 31, 2021 (1)
(1)

Property, plant and equipment with a book value of $10,761,682 are not depreciated because they are either under development or construction, or not
Property,
and equipment
with a book value
$10,761,682
are not depreciated because they are either under development or construction, or not
installed
as atplant
December
31, 2021 ($11,167,775
as at of
December
31, 2020).
installed as at December 31, 2021 ($11,167,775 as at December 31, 2020).

(1)
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December 31, 2021
and 2020 STATEMENTS
Years
ended
December
2021
andindicated)
2020
(all
amounts
are in Canadian
dollars31,
unless
otherwise
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
14 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

As at September 30, As at December 31,
As at September
30, As at December
31,
2021
2020

2021$
$

10,567,591
10,567,591
10,965,585
10,965,585
1,424,708
1,424,708
1,352,444
1,352,444
15,627
15,627
24,325,955
24,325,955

Suppliers
(1)
Suppliers
Due to the state
(1)
Due
to thepayables
state to a shareholder‐owned company
Accounts
Accounts
payables to a shareholder‐owned company
Other
payables
Other payables
Accrued
interest
Accrued interest

(1)
(1)

2020$
$

9,770,197
9,770,197
365,640
365,640
2,317,787
2,317,787
1,295,282
1,295,282
16,716
16,716
13,765,622
13,765,622

Includes a due of $7,714,916 on the provision for prior years' adjustments (see note 24).
Includes a due of $7,714,916 on the provision for prior years' adjustments (see note 24).

15 - LONG-TERM DEBT, LINES OF CREDIT AND OVERDRAFT
15 - LONG-TERM DEBT, LINES OF CREDIT AND OVERDRAFT
Bank loan in the initial amount of $11,549,531 (5,000,000,000 CFA francs), annual
interest
of 7%,
secured
by amount
a first mortgage
on land on
the operating CFA
permit
for gold
and
Bank loan
in the
initial
of $11,549,531
(5,000,000,000
francs),
annual
minerals
thesecured
region by
of aNampala.
This loan
is repayable
in monthly
instalments
of
interest ofin7%,
first mortgage
on land
on the operating
permit
for gold and
$262,794
CFANampala.
francs) including
and interest,
untilinstalments
August 2022
minerals in(119,784,353
the region of
This loan capital
is repayable
in monthly
of
(1)
$262,794 (119,784,353
CFA francs) including capital and interest, until August 2022
inclusively.
(1)
inclusively.
Bank loan in the initial amount of $2,245,420 (1,000,000,000 CFA francs), annual
interest
of 8%,
secured
a third mortgage
on land
on the operating
permit for
gold
Bank
loan
in the
initialbyamount
of $2,245,420
(1,000,000,000
CFA francs),
annual
and
minerals
in secured
the region
This loan
is repayable
in monthlypermit
instalments
of
interest
of 8%,
by of
a Nampala.
third mortgage
on land
on the operating
for gold
$193,038
(87,988,866
CFAoffrancs)
including
capital
and interest,
until
May 2022
and minerals
in the region
Nampala.
This loan
is repayable
in monthly
instalments
of
inclusively.
$193,038 (87,988,866 CFA francs) including capital and interest, until May 2022
inclusively.
Bank loan in the initial amount of $1,844,706 (500,000,000 CFA francs), annual interest
of 10%,
by a third
mortgage
on land(500,000,000
on the operating
permitannual
for gold
and
Bank
loansecured
in the initial
amount
of $1,844,706
CFA francs),
interest
minerals
in the region
of Nampala.
in monthly
of
of 10%, secured
by a third
mortgageThis
on loan
land isonrepayable
the operating
permitinstalments
for gold and
$115,792
francs) including
and interest,
untilinstalments
August 2022
minerals in(52,779,446
the region CFA
of Nampala.
This loancapital
is repayable
in monthly
of
inclusively.
$115,792 (52,779,446 CFA francs) including capital and interest, until August 2022
Bank loan in the initial amount of $701,937 (300,000,000 CFA francs), annual interest of
inclusively.
7.5%,
secured
with
a pledge
onofthe
mobile (300,000,000
equipment financed.
This annual
loan is interest
repayable
Bank loan
in the
initial
amount
$701,937
CFA francs),
of
in
monthly
instalments
of
$20,183
(9,199,798
CFA
francs)
including
capital
and
interest,
7.5%, secured with a pledge on the mobile equipment financed. This loan is repayable
until
Marchinstalments
2024 inclusively.
in monthly
of $20,183 (9,199,798 CFA francs) including capital and interest,
until
March
Bank loan in2024
the inclusively.
initial amount of $69,726 (29,800,000 CFA francs), annual interest of
7.5%,
secured
with
a pledge
on the
mobile equipment
Thisannual
loan isinterest
repayable
Bank loan
in the
initial
amount
of $69,726
(29,800,000financed.
CFA francs),
of
in
monthly
instalments
of $2,005
CFA francs)financed.
includingThis
capital
interest,
7.5%,
secured
with a pledge
on the(913,846
mobile equipment
loanand
is repayable
until
March 2024
inclusively.
in monthly
instalments
of $2,005 (913,846 CFA francs) including capital and interest,
until March 2024 inclusively.
Loans entirely repaid during the year
Loans entirely repaid during the year
Less: Capitalized financing fees in the amount of $291,011 (122,263,500 CFA francs)
Less: Capitalized financing fees in the amount of $291,011 (122,263,500 CFA francs)

2021
2021$
$
2,048,221
2,048,221

1,123,032
1,123,032

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

991,920
991,920

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

491,576
491,576

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

48,830
48,830

‐‐‐
‐‐‐

‐‐‐
‐‐‐
4,703,579
4,703,579
(8,973)
(8,973)
4,694,606

4,694,606
(4,389,574)
(4,389,574)
305,032
305,032

Less: Current portion of long‐term debt
Less: Current portion of long‐term debt
(1)

2020
2020$
$
5,365,654
5,365,654

1,189,711
1,189,711
6,555,365
6,555,365
(55,262)
(55,262)
6,500,103
6,500,103
(4,288,403)
(4,288,403)
2,211,700
2,211,700

Under these obligations, the Company is commited to complying annually with certain conditions and financial ratios. As at December 31, 2021, the
complied
with all required
financial
ratios. to complying annually with certain conditions and financial ratios. As at December 31, 2021, the
Under these
obligations,
the Company
is commited
Page 30
Company complied with all required financial ratios.

(1)
Company
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15 - LONG-TERM DEBT, LINES OF CREDIT AND OVERDRAFT - (continued)

0 As at December 31,

The principal payments required over the next three years amount to $4,703,579.
$
2022
4,398,547
2023
253,647
2024
51,385
Lines of credit and overdraft

2021
$

2020
$

Authorized line of credit from a Malian bank for a maximum amount of $1,096,946
(500,000,000 CFA francs), bearing interest at an annual rate of 8%, due on
September 30, 2022.

573,797

1,086,599

Authorized line of credit from a Malian bank for a maximum amount of $5,484,729
(2 500 000 000 CFA francs), bearing interest at an annual rate of 7.75%, due on
November 30, 2022.

5,484,729

‐‐‐

601,074

‐‐‐

6,659,600

1,086,599

Overdraft

16 - ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

2021
$

Balance at the beginning of the year

423,702

Change in the provision as a result of changes in estimates

(54,309)
41,925

Accretion expense of the year

(32,933)

Impact of exchange rate changes
Balance at the end of the year

378,385

The Company’s activities are subject to various laws and regulations regarding environmental restoration and closure provisions, for
which the Company estimates future costs. These provisions may be revised on the basis of amendments to such laws and regulations
and the availability of new information, such as changes in reserves corresponding to a change in the mine life and discount rates,
changes in estimated costs of reclamation activities and acquisition or construction of a new mine. The Company makes a provision based
on a best estimate of the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites and related production facilities on a discounted basis.
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16 - ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES - (continued)
Asset Retirement Obligations
As at December 31, 2021, the liability for asset retirement obligations was $378,385 ($423,702 as at December 31, 2020).
The estimated undiscounted value of this liability was $1,027,712 ($1,114,623 as at December 31, 2020).
For the year ended December 31, 2021, an accretion expense component of $41,925 ($77,166 as at December 31, 2020) was charged to
operations in "finance costs" to reflect an increase in the carrying amount of the asset retirement obligation which was determined using
a weighted average discount rate of 11% (11% as at December 31, 2020).

17 - LEASE OBLIGATIONS
Right‐of‐use assets are included in property, plant and equipment, as described below :

Balance at the beginning of the year
Modifications
Depreciation
Effect in exchange rate changes
Balance at the end of the year

Buildings
and office
development

Tools,
equipment
and vehicles

146,563
‐‐‐
(71,967)
(9,462)

146,028
(58,043)
(69,574)
(8,609)

65,134

9,802

Total
$
292,591
(58,043)
(141,541)
(18,071)
74,936
2021
$

Liabilities related to lease obligations are presented as follows:
Balance at the beginning of the year
Modifications
Payments during the year
Effect in exchange rate changes

301,551
(58,043)
(145,910)
(11,235)

Balance at the end of the year

86,363
(79,150)

Less : Current portion of lease obligations

7,213
These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Company's or its subsidiaries'
incremental borrowing rate of 4% or 7.38%, respectively. There are no restrictions or covenants imposed by the leases.
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18 - EQUITY

As at September 30, As at December 31,

a) Share capital
Authorized
Unlimited number of shares without par value:
Common shares
Preferred shares, non‐voting, variable non‐cumulative dividend not exceeding
14%, non‐participating in the remaining assets, redeemable at the purchase
price

2021
$
Issued and fully paid
599,878,403 common shares
(December 31, 2020 ‐ 599,119,403 common shares)

71,407,047

2020
$

71,269,402

Year 2021
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 759,000 shares following the exercise of stock options for a cash
consideration of $83,670. The value of options exercised that was reclassified to the share capital is $137,645.

b) Reserve ‐ stock options
Pursuant to the stock option plan, the Company may award options to directors, officers, employees and consultants. The maximum
number of common shares of the Company issuable under the plan is 34,770,600. The maximum number of common shares which may
be reserved for issuance to any one optionee within a one‐year period, other than a consultant or a person employed to provide investor
relations activities to the Company, may not exceed 5% of the common shares issued and outstanding at the date of grant. Upon issuance
of the options, the Board of Directors determines the expiry date and exercise price of options and establishes the terms and conditions
regarding the vesting rules at the date of grant. The option term cannot exceed ten years and the exercise price can be a discounted price.
The maximum number of common shares which may be reserved for issuance to a holder who is a consultant or a person employed to
provide investor relations activities to the Company in any twelve‐month period may not exceed 2% of the common shares issued and
outstanding at the date of grant. Finally, options granted to a person retained to provide investor relations activities to the Company will
vest over a period of twelve months, at a rate of 25% in any three‐month period.
The stock options granted by the Company are payable in equity instruments of the Company.
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18 - EQUITY - (continued)
b) Reserve ‐ stock options (continued)

As at September 30, As at December 31,

Current stock options
Expired or cancelled stock options

2021

2020

$

$

461,853
2,565,758

523,248
2,558,338

3,027,611

3,081,586

The stock options varied as follows:
2021
Weighted average
Number
exercise price
Oustanding at the beginning of the year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired

2020
Weighted average
Number
exercise price

7,140,163
‐‐‐
(759,000)

$0.12
‐‐‐
$0.11

(100,000)

$0.12

‐‐‐

‐‐‐

23,000,000
3,000,000
(18,859,837)

$0.11
$0.35
$0.15

Oustanding at the end of the year

6,281,163

$0.12

7,140,163

$0.12

Exercisable

6,281,163

$0.12

7,140,163

$0.12

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the weighted average price per share during the exercices of stock options was $0.41 ($0.37 for
the year ended December 31, 2020).
The total fair value of stock options granted for the year ended December 31, 2021, is null ($573,791 for the year ended
December 31, 2020). For the year ended December 31, 2021, no amount is included as stock‐based compensation expense ($573,791 for
the year ended December 31, 2020). The total fair value was estimated on the grant dates using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model
with the following average assumptions:

Risk‐free interest rate
Expected volatility

2021

2020

0.32%

0.32%

66.50%

66.50%

0%

0%

5 years

5 years

Stock price

$0.35

$0.35

Exercise price

$0.35

$0.35

Expected dividend yield
Expected life
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18 - EQUITY - (continued)
b) Reserve ‐ stock options ‐ (continued)
The following table summarizes some information on the Company’s stock options of the Company:

Exercise price
$0.09
$0.115
$0.13

Outstanding options
as at December 31, 2021

Exercisable options
as at December 31, 2021

Weighted average
remaining contractual life

Weighted average
remaining contractual life

Number
1,150,000
100,000
5,031,163

Years
0.5
1.7
2.9

6,281,163

Number
1,150,000
100,000
5,031,163

Years
0.5
1.7
2.9

6,281,163

c) Dividends
During the year ended December 31, 2021, no dividend was declared by the Company to common shareholders (extraordinary dividends
on the common shares of $0.02 per common share on March 18, 2020 and $0.04 per common share on September 10, 2020 for a total
amount of $35,537,967 for the year ended December 31, 2020).
During the year ended December 31, 2021, a dividend of $23,614 was declared to the non‐controlling interest (dividend of $73,014 for
the year ended December 31, 2020).
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December 31,
31, 2021
2021 and
and 2020
2020
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otherwiseindicated)
indicated)

19 - ACCUMULATED
ACCUMULATED OTHER
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
COMPREHENSIVEINCOME
INCOME

2021
2021
$$

2020
2020
$ $

Exchange
Exchange difference
difference
Balance
Balance at
at the
the beginning
beginningof
ofthe
theyear
year
Exchange
Exchange difference
differencechanges
changesduring
duringthe
theyear
year
Balance
Balance at
at the
the end
endof
ofthe
theyear
year
Attributable
Attributable to
to
Common
Common shareholders
shareholders
Non‐controlling
Non‐controlling interest
interest

7,552,952
7,552,952

1,723,032
1,723,032

(8,772,942)
(8,772,942)

5,829,920
5,829,920

(1,219,990)
(1,219,990)

7,552,952
7,552,952

(1,120,724)
(1,120,724)
(99,266)
(99,266)

7,576,935
7,576,935
(23,983)
(23,983)

(1,219,990)
(1,219,990)

7,552,952
7,552,952

20
20 -- ADDITIONAL
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
INFORMATIONON
ONTHE
THECONSOLIDATED
CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTSOF
OFCASH
CASHFLOWS
FLOWS

a) Net changes in non‐cash working capital items
a) Net changes in non‐cash working capital items
Decrease (increase) in current assets
Decrease (increase) in current assets
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses
Deposits paid
Deposits paid
Increase in current liabilities
Increase in current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accounts payable

2020
2020
$
$

2021
2021
$
$

2020
2020
$
$

955,688
955,688
(,532,957)
(,532,957)
(105,697)
(105,697)
(386,165)
(386,165)
(,69,131)
(,69,131)

(1,543,314)
(1,543,314)
3,008,321
3,008,321
167,274
167,274
874,574
874,574
2,506,855
2,506,855

(618,360)
(618,360)
(1,455,442)
(1,455,442)
(592,808)
(592,808)
(392,546)
(392,546)
(3,059,156)
(3,059,156)

(1,828,758)
(1,828,758)
(2,435,254)
(2,435,254)
26,795
26,795
524,539
524,539
(3,712,676)
(3,712,676)

1,403,461
1,403,461
3,910,316
3,910,316

13,214,202
13,214,202
10,155,047
10,155,047

2,088,140
2,088,140
(1,624,536)
(1,624,536)

11,359,057
11,359,057
11,289,926
11,289,926

b) Paid interest
b) Paid interest
Lines of credit
Lines of credit
Long‐term
debt
Long‐term
debt
Lease
obligations
Lease
obligations
Bank charges
Bank charges

c) Items not affecting cash related to investing activities
c) Items
not in
affecting
cash
related
to investing
activities
Change
accounts
payable
related
to property,
plant and
Change
in
accounts
payable
related
to
property,
plant and
equipment
equipment
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2021
2021
$
$

(147,211)
(147,211)
(252,514)
(252,514)
(2,496)
(2,496)
(72,348)
(72,348)
(474,569)
(474,569)

(4 301)
(4 301)
(325,163)
(325,163)
(13,496)
(13,496)
(163,268)
(163,268)
(506,228)
(506,228)

616,319
616,319

(784,016)
(784,016)

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

(196,065)
(196,065)
(483,972)
(483,972)
(7,548)
(7,548)
(150,241)
(150,241)
(837,826)
(837,826)

1,717,820
1,717,820

(7,582)
(7,582)
(784,655)
(784,655)
(25,710)
(25,710)
(249,877)
(249,877)
(1,067,824)
(1,067,824)

(1,853,534)
(1,853,534)
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21 - INCOME TAX
Current tax expense

0 janvier 1900
2021
$

Current income tax
Income tax expense
Deferred tax expense
Recognition and reversal of tempory difference
Total income tax expense

2020
$

15,999,695

768,004

4,658,751

1,788,301

20,658,446

2,556,305

The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and Quebec provincial income tax rate to the income tax provision is as follows:

Income tax expenses payable at the combined statutory tax rate of 26.5% (26.5% in 2020)
Minimum taxes
Adjustement in respect of prior years
Non‐deductible and non‐taxable items
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Tax rate difference
Items not affecting earnings
Impact of different accounting standard
Other
Foreign tax withholdings

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

2021
$

2020
$

9,746,448
‐‐‐
14,276,807
(5,537,492)
1,298,180
771,537
233,922
(102,573)
(102,325)
73,942

12,609,322
223,379
348,159
(13,466,960)
2,359,928
194,535
(208,785)
248,899
170,571
77,257

20,658,446

2,556,305
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21 - INCOME TAX - (continued)
21 - INCOME TAX - (continued)
Deferred income taxes
Deferred income taxes
The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Lease obligations
Lease obligations

2021
2021
$
$
15,838
15,838
15,838
15,838

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax, net
Deferred tax, net
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Unrecognized deferred tax assets

75,476
75,476
75,476
75,476

(7,889,310)
(7,889,310)
(2,071)
(2,071)
(7,891,381)
(7,891,381)
(7,875,543)
(7,875,543)

(3,529,368)
(3,529,368)
(3,209)
(3,209)
(3,532,577)
(3,532,577)
(3,457,101)
(3,457,101)

2021
2021
$
$

2020
2020
$
$

3,346,373
3,346,373
15,740,708
15,740,708
27,756
27,756
2,191
2,191
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
793,771
793,771
19,910,799
19,910,799

Mining properties
Mining properties
Non‐capital losses
Non‐capital losses
Financing expense
Financing expense
Lease obligations
Lease obligations
Capital losses
Capital losses
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment

2020
2020
$
$

3,187,236
3,187,236
14,198,489
14,198,489
41,933
41,933
761
761
504,588
504,588
775,182
775,182
18,708,189
18,708,189

As at December 31, 2021, there are no non‐capital losses in Mali for which no deferred tax assets are recognized (none as at
As at December
31, 2021, there are no non‐capital losses in Mali for which no deferred tax assets are recognized (none as at
December
31, 2020).
December 31, 2020).
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Third quarters

21
TAX
- (continued)
22 - INCOME
EARNINGS
PER
SHARE

2021
$

Deferred income taxes
Net earnings and diluted attributable to common shareholders
The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
Basic
weighted
average
of shares
outstanding
Recognized
deferred
taxnumber
assets and
liabilities
(1)

Stock options
Deferred tax assets
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (1)
Lease obligations
Basic net earnings per share
Deferred tax liabilities
Diluted net earnings per share
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
(1)

2020
$

Nine‐month periods
2021
$

2020
$

‐‐‐

23,195,182

15,892,676

44,609,088

599,878,403

593,515,518

4,420,839

7,231,385

599,737,408
2021
4,595,729$

588,946,537
2020
10,037,766$

604,299,242

600,746,903

604,333,137
15,838

598,984,303
75,476

0.007
0.007

0.039
0.039

15,838
0.026
0.026
(7,889,310)
(2,071)

75,476
0.076
0.074
(3,529,368)
(3,209)

The calculation of the hypothetical conversions excludes options whose effect is anti‐dilutive. Some stock options are anti‐dilutive
their
(7,891,381)either because
(3,532,577)
price is higher than the average price of the Company’s common shares for each of the periods presented or because the impact of the conversion of
Deferred
tax, net
(7,875,543)
these
elements
on net income would result in diluted earnings per share exceeding the basic earnings per share for each
of these periods. (3,457,101)
For the year
ended December 31, 2021, no stock option is excluded in the diluted net earnings per share calculation (no stock options for the year ended
December 31, 2020).

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

2021
$

2020
$

23 - CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
Mining properties
3,346,373
3,187,236
Non‐capital
losses
15,740,708
14,198,489
The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain adequate cash resources to support planned activities. The Company
includes
equity
in the definition of capital. The Company's capital was $98,647,265 and $91,239,519 as at27,756
December 31, 2021
and
Financing
expense
41,933
December
31, 2020, respectively.
Lease obligations
2,191
761
Capital losses
‐‐‐
504,588
The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial
Property, plant and equipment
793,771
775,182
obligations. The Company monitors capital in the light of its monthly burn rate and short‐term obligations linked to its financial liabilities.
19,910,799
18,708,189
Other operations that affect equity are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
As at December 31, 2021, there are no non‐capital losses in Mali for which no deferred tax assets are recognized (none as at
December 31, 2020).

24 - CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Purchase Obligations

As at December 31, 2021, the Company has commitments to purchase from different non‐related party suppliers for an amount of
$2,149,770 of property, plant and equipment ($2,803,884 as at December 31, 2020) and for an amount of $4,423,053 of inventories of
supplies and spare parts ($5,516,356 as at December 31, 2020). In addition, the Company has commitments with a non‐related suppliers
for services lasting less than 12 months for a total amount of $719,232 ($64,603 as at December 31, 2020).
The payments required over the next year amount to $7,292,054.
Government Royalties
In Mali, the rate of mining royalties on volumes shipped is 3%.
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24 - CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS - (continued)
Tax adjustment from previous years
In 2021, the Company received from the Malian tax authorities tax assessments for the years 2016 to 2018 with a maximum exposure of
$21.2 million (including interest and penalties).
The assessment covers mainly these items: corporate income taxes and withholding taxes.
As at 31 December 2021, there are various ongoing technical discussions, the ultimate outcome of which remains uncertain, and
therefore there remains a risk that the outcome could materially impact the recognised balances within the next financial year. It is
impractical to provide further sensitivity estimates of potential downside variances .
The final outcome of this matter is not determinable at this time. Although the Company is vigorously defending its positions and is
currently negotiating a new tax framework with the Malian authorities, a provision of $14.3 millions has been recorded as at December
31, 2021 which is the most probable outflow of funds at this time. Any incremental provision will be recognized in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements once and if it is probable that an additional outflow of funds will occur.

25 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Measurement categories
Financial assets and financial liabilities have been classified into categories that determine their basis of measurement and, for items
measured at fair value, whether changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statement of income or in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (loss). These categories are: assets and liabilities at FVTPL and financial assets and liabilities at
amortized cost. The following table shows the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for each of these categories:
As at September 30, As at December 31,

2021
$
Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash
Accounts receivable
Deposits paid

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Accounts payable
Lines of credit
Long‐term debt
Lease obligations
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2020
$

20,721,807
65,960
1,920,523

8,895,854
17,238
2,012,030

22,708,290

10,925,122

13,360,370
6,659,600
4,694,606
86,363

13,399,981
1,086,599
6,500,103
301,551

24,800,939

21,288,234
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25 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - (continued)
Financial risk factors
Due to the nature of its activities, the Company is exposed to financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
a) Market risk
i) Fair value
The carrying amounts of financial assets at amortized cost approximate their fair value due to their short‐term maturity and the
prevailing interest rates of these instruments, which are comparable to those of the market.
The Company considers that the carrying amount of all its financial liabilities at amortized cost in its consolidated financial statements
approximates their fair value. Current financial assets and financial liabilities are valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable
estimates of their fair value due to their near‐term maturities. The fair value of long‐term debt has not been determined due to the
related specific conditions negotiated between the Company and the third parties concerned.
‐ Level 1: Measurement at fair value based on quoted prices (not subject to adjustment) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;
‐ Level 2: Measurement at fair value based on data, other than the quoted prices mentioned in Level 1, observable for asset or liability,
directly (that is, prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and
‐ Level 3: Measurement at fair value based on valuation techniques including a significant part of the data related to asset or liability
and which are not based on observable market data (unobservable data).
As at December 31, 2021, there were no financial liabilities at fair value (none as at December 31, 2020).
During these periods, there was no transfer between levels.
ii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s current financial assets and financial liabilities are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk because either they are
of a short‐term nature or they are non‐interest bearing.
Lines of credit and long‐term debt bear interest at fixed rates and are not exposed to interest rate risk.
iii) Foreign exchange risk
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Canadian and the
American dollar.
The Company holds balances in cash, accounts receivable, deposits paid and accounts payable in Canadian dollars and/or in American
dollars. Accordingly, the Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to exchange rate fluctuations. The Company does not use
any derivatives to mitigate its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

Page 41P A G E 8 7

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(all amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
a) Market risk ‐ (continued)
The balances in currencies are as follows as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

Cash
Deposits paid
Accounts payable
Lease obligations

Net balance in euros

2021
CAD

2021
USD

2020
CAD

2020
USD

356,078
27,386
(415,070)
(56,268)

203,196
443,407
(1,540,211)
‐‐‐

1,312,070
224,277
(608,299)
(118,466)

665,025
315,711
(509,967)
‐‐‐

(87,874)

(893,608)

809,582

470,769

(€61,062)

(€789,237)

€518,697

€382,884

The FCFA currency is fixed against the Euro currency. The FCFA is currently at a fixed rate of FCFA 655.957 for 1 euro. The balance in
Euro currency includes the balance in FCFA as the foreign exchange risk of both currencies is managed simultaneously.
Assuming that all other variables are constant, a 5% weakening of the Canadian dollar exchange rate and the American dollar exchange
rate would have generated an approximate increase of $62,536 in net income and equity of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2021 (approximate decrease of $67,006 for the year ended December 31, 2020). A 5% strengthening of the Canadian
dollar exchange rate and the American dollar exchange rate would have generated an approximate decrease of $53,648 in net income
and equity of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021 (approximate increase of $70,916 for the year ended
December 31, 2020).
b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and accounts receivable. The Company offsets
these risks by depositing its cash with Canadian and international financial institutions with excellent credit ratings. However, as at
December 31, 2021, an amount of $3,148,070 was held with banks in Africa that have no credit rating ($1,006,430 as at
December 31, 2020). Deposits were principally paid for the purchase of mining exploration material and inventories of parts and
supplies. The Company has been doing business with these suppliers for many years and believes that the credit risk associated with
these advances is low.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - (continued)
25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - (continued)
c) Liquidity risk
c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due.
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due.
The following table shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021:
The following table shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021:
Carrying
Less than
Carrying
Lessa than
amount
year
amount
a year
24,325,955
24,325,955
Accounts payable
24,325,955
24,325,955
Accounts payable
(1)
4,694,606
4,568,970
Long‐term debt
4,694,606
4,568,970
Long‐term debt (1)
6,659,600
6,659,600
Lines of credit
6,659,600
6,659,600
Lines of credit
86,363
81,308
Lease obligations (1)
86,363
81,308
Lease obligations (1)
35,766,524
35,635,833
35,766,524
35,635,833

From 1 to 3
From 1years
to 3
years
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
317,871
317,871
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
6,780
6,780
324,651
324,651

More than 3
More than
3
years
years
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐

The following table shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020:
The following table shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020:
Carrying
Less than
Carrying
Lessa than
year
amount
a year
amount
Accounts payable
13,765,623
13,765,623
Accounts payable
13,765,623
13,765,623
(1)
4,661,973
6,500,103
Long‐term debt
(1)
4,661,973
6,500,103
Long‐term debt
(1)
214,129
301,551
Lease obligations
(1)
214,129
301,551
Lease obligations
21,653,877
19,728,325
21,653,877
19,728,325

From 1 to 3
From 1years
to 3
years
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
2,280,141
2,280,141
101,635
101,635
2,381,776
2,381,776

More than 3
More than
3
years
years
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
‐‐‐

(1)
(1)

Future maturities relating to these liabilities exceed their carrying amount because they include both capital and interest payments.
Future maturities relating to these liabilities exceed their carrying amount because they include both capital and interest payments.

26 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
26 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Results for the year ended December 31, 2021 include expenses of $4,536,605 that were incurred with the directors and officers of
Results for controlled
the year ended
December
31, 2021
include
expenses
of $4,536,605
thatincluding
were incurred
with the of
directors
and($73,952
officers for
of
companies
by them
($6,597,730
for the
year ended
December
31, 2020),
travel expenses
$112,239
companies
controlled
by them
($6,597,730
the year ended
December
31, 2020),
including
travel expenses
of $112,239
($73,952
for
the
year ended
December
31, 2020).
These for
transactions
occurred
in the normal
course
of operations
and are measured
at the
exchange
the
year which
ended isDecember
31,of2020).
These transactions
in the parties.
normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount,
the amount
consideration
establishedoccurred
by the related
amount, which is the amount of consideration established by the related parties.
The table below summarizes, for the respective years, the total compensation paid to directors and key management personnel having
The
table and
below
summarizes,
the respective
the total compensation
directors and key management personnel having
authority
responsibility
forfor
planning,
directingyears,
and controlling
the activities ofpaid
the to
Company:
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company:
2021
2020
2021$
2020$
$
$
Salaries and wages (1)
(1) (1)
Salaries
and fees
wages
Attendance
(1)
Attendance
Stock‐basedfees
compensation

4,372,566
4,372,566
51,800
51,800
‐‐‐
‐‐‐
4,424,366
4,424,366

Stock‐based compensation
(1)
(1)

These expenses are included in administrative expenses under corporation management; see note 8.
These expenses are included in administrative expenses under corporation management; see note 8.
ROBEX RESOURCES INC.

5,882,787
5,882,787
67,200
67,200
573,791
573,791
6,523,778
6,523,778
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26 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - (continued)
The table below summarizes, for the respective years, the transactions between the Company and the directors and key management
personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company:
2021
$
Transactions with Fairchild Participation SA (2)
(2)

4,484,805

2020
$
5,956,739

An amount of $4,372,566 included in this amount is related to the compensation of the Company's management for the year ended
December 31, 2021 ($5,882,787 for the year ended December 31, 2020).

The Company has not provided for payment of benefits to its top management key members in case of a job termination or a change of
control.

27 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On April 20, 2022, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement ("SPA") in which the Company will issue a maximum of
403,600,000 common shares (less closing adjustments such as potential liabilities) in the share capital of Robex in exchange for 100% of
the outstanding shares of Sycamore Mining ("Sycamore").
Pursuant to the terms of the SPA, the common shares will be issued as follows:
•
242,160,000 common shares due at closing;
•
upon approval of the closing financial statements, a maximum of 60,540,000 common shares less a number of common shares
equal to the aggregate amount of liabilities of Sycamore (on a consolidated basis); and
•
100,900,000 common shares less such number of shares equal to certain liabilities of Sycamore or the sellers not addressed in (i) to
be issued once a “Convention d’établissement” signed with the Government of Guinea providing for the conditions under which the
Kiniero Project will be operated or (ii) another binding document addressing such liabilities
The closing is expected to occur before end of Q2 2022.
The completion of the transaction is subject to a number of conditions precedent including, but not limited to: (i) the receipt by Robex of
a NI43‐101 technical report on the Kiniero Project and its acceptance by the TSX Venture Exchange (the Exchange); and (ii) the approval of
the transaction by the Exchange.
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